Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: January 23, 2015 ACCEPTED: March 5, 2015 PUBLISHED: March 25, 2015

Exotic branes and non-geometric fluxes

Yuho Sakatani

Department of Physics and Astronomy, Seoul National University, Gwanak-ro 1, Gwanak-gu, Seoul 151-747, Korea

E-mail: yuho@cc.kyoto-su.ac.jp

ABSTRACT: We present and study ten-dimensional effective actions for various nongeometric fluxes of which exotic branes act as the magnetic sources. Each theory can be regarded as a U-dual version of the β -supergravity, a reformulation of the ten-dimensional supergravity which is suitable for describing non-geometric backgrounds with Q-flux. In each theory, we find a solution that corresponds to the background of an exotic brane and show that it is single-valued up to a gauge transformation, although the same background written in the standard background fields is not single-valued in a usual sense. Further, we also find a solution which corresponds to the background of an instanton that is the electric dual of the exotic brane and discuss its properties.

KEYWORDS: p-branes, String Duality

ARXIV EPRINT: 1412.8769



Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Supergravity description of defect branes	3
3	eta-supergravity	6
	3.1 The action and its reduction	8
	3.2 5_2^2 -brane as a source of the <i>Q</i> -flux	9
4	Ramond-Ramond counterpart of the β -supergravity	12
	4.1 The effective action for the <i>P</i> -flux	12
	4.2 5_3^2 -brane as a source of the <i>P</i> -flux	14
5	Effective actions for non-geometric fluxes	15
	5.1 Effective actions for the P -fluxes	15
	5.2 Relating the new and the original background fields	18
	5.3 Effective actions for Q -fluxes	22
	5.4 Seven branes and instantons	23
	5.5 The mixed-symmetry tensors	25
	5.6 Summary of the results	26
6	Summary and discussions	27
\mathbf{A}	Field redefinitions and a derivation of the action	29

1 Introduction

String theory contains various extended objects such as fundamental strings, solitonic fivebranes, and D*p*-branes. These objects are known to couple to the standard background fields; the *B*-field or the Ramond-Ramond fields. If we consider a compactification on a seven-torus, $T_{3...9}^7$, there arise additional objects, called *exotic branes* [1–6]. The exotic branes can exist only in the presence of compact isometry directions, just like the Kaluza-Klein monopoles, and have the tension proportional to g_s^{α} with $\alpha = -2, -3, -4$. Among them, a 5²₂-brane, which has two isometry directions, has been well-studied recently [4–16]. Since the 5²₂ background has a non-vanishing (magnetic) *Q*-flux [8, 9], we can identify the 5²₂-brane as an object that magnetically couples to a bi-vector field β^{ij} whose derivative gives the *Q*-flux. This can be shown more explicitly by writing down the worldvolume effective action of the 5²₂-brane [12, 15].

If we perform an S-duality transformation, the 5_2^2 -brane is mapped to another exotic brane, called a D5₂-brane, which is a member of a family of exotic *p*-branes, denoted by



Figure 1. A family of exotic branes and the duality web.

 Dp_{7-p} [2, 3]. If we adopt a notation used in [1, 6], the exotic *p*-brane, which has (7-p) special isometry directions, is denoted by $p_3^{7-p}(n_1 \cdots n_p, m_1 \cdots m_{7-p})$ since the mass is written as

$$M = \frac{1}{g_s^3 l_s} \left(\frac{R_{n_1} \cdots R_{n_p}}{l_s^p}\right) \left(\frac{R_{m_1} \cdots R_{m_{7-p}}}{l_s^{7-p}}\right)^2 \quad \left(R_i: \text{ radius in the } x^i \text{-direction}\right), \quad (1.1)$$

where x^{n_i} are the extending directions while x^{m_i} are the special isometry directions. They are also called the higher Kaluza-Klein branes [3], since the quadratic dependence on the radii in the isometry directions is similar to the case of the Kaluza-Klein monopole, KK5= 5_2^1 . For the special case of p = 7, we frequently denote it by NS7 instead of 7_3 . The duality relation between the standard branes and the exotic branes is summarized in figure 1.

In spite of the presence of a symmetric structure between the exotic branes and the usual branes (see figure 1), little is known about the exotic branes; e.g., the background fields which couple to the exotic branes have not been studied in detail, other than the case of the 5^2_2 -brane.

The main interest in this paper is to identify the background fields which couple to the exotic branes and to write down the effective supergravity action for the background fields. For the 5_2^2 -brane, the relevant background field is a bi-vector β^{ij} which is a function of the standard NS-NS fields. The effective theory for the β -field has been constructed in a series of works [17–21] and is called the β -supergravity. On the other hand, for the Dp_{7-p} -brane, the relevant background field is expected to be a (7-p)-vector $\gamma^{i_1\cdots i_{7-p}}$ whose derivative is called the non-geometric P-flux (see [22–24] where the γ -fields are introduced in the study of the exceptional generalized geometry, [5, 25, 26] where the relation between mixed-symmetry tensors and exotic branes is discussed, [12, 15] where the effective D5₂brane action is written down and the D5₂-brane is found to couple to a bi-vector γ^{ij} magnetically, and [20, 21] where a possible relation between the polyvectors γ and exotic branes is discussed). However, the definition of the γ -fields and the effective action for the γ -fields are still not fully understood.

In this paper, assuming the existence of some isometry directions, we construct effective actions for various mixed-symmetry tensors that couple to exotic branes. We consider the cases of the exotic 5_2^2 -brane, the 1_4^6 -brane, and the Dp_{7-p}-brane, and argue that these exotic

branes are the magnetic sources of the non-geometric fluxes associated with polyvectors β^{ij} , $\beta^{i_1 \cdots i_6}$, and $\gamma^{i_1 \cdots i_7 - p}$, respectively. As it is well-known, an exotic-brane background written in terms of the usual background fields is not single-valued and has a *U*-duality monodromy. However, with a suitable redefinition of the background fields, the *U*-duality monodromy of the exotic-brane background simply becomes a gauge transformation associated with a shift in a polyvector (which corresponds to a natural extension of the β -transformation known in the generalized geometry). This kind of field redefinition and the rewriting of the action in terms of the new background fields are the main tasks of this paper. We further find a new instanton solution that corresponds to the electric source of the non-geometric flux, whose existence has been anticipated in section 7 of [5].

This paper is organized as follows. In section 2, we review the supergravity description of various defect branes with an emphasis on the *exotic duality* [5], which relates the objects described in the upper half (exotic branes) and the lower half (standard branes) of figure 1. In section 3, we review the β -supergravity and examine the 5^2_2 -brane as the magnetic source of the Q-flux. We also find an instanton solution of the β -supergravity that has the electric charge associated with the Q-flux. In section 4, utilizing the techniques of the β -supergravity, we derive the effective action for the bi-vector γ^{ij} (whose derivative gives the non-geometric P-flux), and find a globally well-defined solution that corresponds to the 5^2_3 -brane. In section 5, we derive the effective actions for various polyvectors and show that the (simplified) action of the β -supergravity and the action obtained in section 4 are reproduced as special cases. We then find two kinds of solutions with either the magnetic or the electric charge associated with the non-geometric flux. Section 6 is devoted to summary and discussions.

2 Supergravity description of defect branes

In this section, we review the supergravity solutions corresponding to various defect branes, and discuss the $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ duality [2, 3] which relates the standard branes and the exotic branes. In the following, we basically follow the notations of [16].

All defect-brane backgrounds considered in this paper can be obtained from the following seven-brane background by performing the T- and S-dualities:

$$\frac{7\text{-brane:}}{e^{2\phi} = \rho_2^{-2}} \quad ds^2 = \rho_2^{-1/2} \left(\rho_2 |f|^2 \, dz \, d\bar{z} + dx_{03\dots9}^2 \right) \qquad \left(z \equiv r \, e^{i\theta} \equiv x^1 + ix^2 \right), \\ e^{2\phi} = \rho_2^{-2}, \quad C^{(0)} = \rho_1, \quad C^{(8)} = -\rho_2^{-1} \, dt \wedge dx^3 \wedge \dots \wedge dx^9.$$
(2.1)

This background satisfies the equations of motion for the type IIB supergravity as long as the functions $\rho \equiv \rho_1 + i\rho_2$ and f are holomorphic functions of z. In the following, we choose them as $\rho(z) = i(\sigma/2\pi) \log(r_c/z) = (\sigma/2\pi) \left[\theta + i\log(r_c/r)\right] (r_c: \text{positive constant})$ and f(z) = 1, which makes the above background the well-known D7 background. Here, the value of σ depends on the duality frame (see table 1) and it is now given by the string coupling constant; $\sigma_{\text{D7}} = g_s$. Note that in the solutions described below, we can always redefine the holomorphic functions as (see [27])

$$\rho(z) \to \rho'(z) = \frac{a\,\rho(z) + b}{c\,\rho(z) + d}, \quad f(z) \to f'(z) = (c\,\rho + d)\,f(z)\,, \quad \begin{pmatrix} a \ b \\ c \ d \end{pmatrix} \in \operatorname{SL}(2,\mathbb{Z})\,, \quad (2.2)$$

Dp	$\sigma_{\mathrm{D}p} = g_s \left(l_s^{7-p} / R_{m_1} \cdots R_{m_{7-p}} \right)$	p_3^{7-p}	$\sigma_{p_3^{7-p}} = g_s^{-1} \left(R_{m_1} \cdots R_{m_{7-p}} / l_s^{7-p} \right)$
NS5	$\sigma_{\rm NS5} = l_s^2 / R_{m_1} R_{m_2}$	5_{2}^{2}	$\sigma_{5_2^2} = R_{m_1} R_{m_2} / l_s^2$
KK5	$\sigma_{\rm KK5} = R_m/R_\ell$		
F1	$\sigma_{\mathrm{F1}} = g_s^2 \left(l_s^6 / R_{m_1} \cdots R_{m_6} \right)$	1_{4}^{6}	$\sigma_{1_4^6} = g_s^{-2} \left(R_{m_1} \cdots R_{m_6} / l_s^6 \right)$
Р	$\sigma_{\rm P} = g_s^2 \left(l_s^8 / R_{m_1} \cdots R_{m_6} R_n^2 \right)$	$0_4^{(1,6)}$	$\sigma_{0_4^{(1,6)}} = g_s^{-2} \left(R_{m_1} \cdots R_{m_6} R_n^2 / l_s^8 \right)$

Table 1. Values of the dimensionless constant σ in various duality frames. The directions x^n , x^{m_i} , and x^{ℓ} are the same as those appearing in the expressions for the background fields.

which corresponds to the $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ symmetry in the type IIB theory. Note also that all backgrounds considered in this paper, by construction, have isometries in the $03 \cdots 9$ -directions.

The defect $Dp(n_1 \cdots n_p)$ background, which corresponds to a Dp-brane extending in the x^{n_1}, \ldots, x^{n_p} -directions and smeared over the remaining directions, $x^{m_1}, \ldots, x^{m_{7-p}}$, of the seven-torus $T_{3\cdots 9}^7$ $(n_i, m_i = 3, \ldots, 9)$, is given by

$$\underline{Dp:} \quad ds^{2} = \rho_{2}^{-1/2} \left(\rho_{2} |f|^{2} dz d\bar{z} + dx_{0n_{1}\cdots n_{p}}^{2} \right) + \rho_{2}^{1/2} dx_{m_{1}\cdots m_{7-p}}^{2},
C^{(7-p)} = \rho_{1} dx^{m_{1}} \wedge \cdots \wedge dx^{m_{7-p}}, \quad e^{2\phi} = \rho_{2}^{\frac{3-p}{2}},
C^{(p+1)} = -\rho_{2}^{-1} \epsilon_{0n_{1}\cdots n_{p}m_{7-p}\cdots m_{1}} dt \wedge dx^{n_{1}} \wedge \cdots \wedge dx^{n_{p}},$$
(2.3)

where the totally antisymmetric symbol is given by $\epsilon_{03\dots 9} \equiv 1$ and the indices are not summed. On the other hand, the exotic *p*-brane background, $Dp_{7-p}(n_1\cdots n_p, m_1\cdots m_{7-p})$, is given by

$$\underline{\mathrm{D}}p_{7-p}: \quad \mathrm{d}s^{2} = \frac{|\rho|}{\rho_{2}^{1/2}} \left(\rho_{2} |f|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}z \,\mathrm{d}\bar{z} + \mathrm{d}x_{0n_{1}\cdots n_{p}}^{2}\right) + \frac{\rho_{2}^{1/2}}{|\rho|} \,\mathrm{d}x_{m_{1}\cdots m_{7-p}}^{2}, \\
C^{(7-p)} = -\frac{\rho_{1}}{|\rho|^{2}} \,\mathrm{d}x^{m_{1}} \wedge \cdots \wedge \mathrm{d}x^{m_{7-p}}, \quad \mathrm{e}^{2\phi} = \left(\frac{\rho_{2}}{|\rho|^{2}}\right)^{\frac{3-p}{2}}, \\
C^{(p+1)} = -\frac{|\rho|^{2}}{\rho_{2}} \,\epsilon_{0n_{1}\cdots n_{p}m_{7-p}\cdots m_{1}} \,\mathrm{d}t \wedge \mathrm{d}x^{n_{1}} \wedge \cdots \wedge \mathrm{d}x^{n_{p}}.$$
(2.4)

As it has been noticed in [2, 3], this background is obtained from the D*p*-brane background through the replacement

$$\rho(z) \to -\rho^{-1}(z), \quad \rho_2 |f|^2 \to \rho_2 |f|^2,$$
(2.5)

which is a special case of the $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ transformation given in (2.2). This kind of duality between a usual brane and an exotic brane is called the exotic duality [5].

The defect (or smeared) $NS5(n_1 \cdots n_5)$ and the $5^2_2(n_1 \cdots n_5, m_1 m_2)$ backgrounds are also related to each other through the exotic-duality transformation (2.5):

NS5:
$$ds^2 = \rho_2 |f|^2 dz d\bar{z} + dx_{0n_1\cdots n_5}^2 + \rho_2 dx_{m_1m_2}^2$$
, $e^{2\phi} = \rho_2$,
 $B^{(2)} = \rho_1 dx^{m_1} \wedge dx^{m_2}$, $B^{(6)} = \rho_2^{-1} \epsilon_{0n_1\cdots n_5m_2m_1} dt \wedge dx^{n_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge dx^{n_5}$, (2.6)

$$\underline{5_2^2}: \quad ds^2 = \rho_2 |f|^2 dz \, d\bar{z} + dx_{0n_1\cdots n_5}^2 + \frac{\rho_2}{|\rho|^2} dx_{m_1m_2}^2, \quad e^{2\phi} = \frac{\rho_2}{|\rho|^2},$$

$$B^{(2)} = -\frac{\rho_1}{|\rho|^2} dx^{m_1} \wedge dx^{m_2}, \quad B^{(6)} = \frac{|\rho|^2}{\rho_2} \epsilon_{0n_1\cdots n_5m_2m_1} dt \wedge dx^{n_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge dx^{n_5}.$$

$$(2.7)$$

Applying a general $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ transformation to these five-brane backgrounds, we can obtain the background of a *defect* (p,q)-five brane [6, 28], which is a bound state of p defect NS5branes and q 5²₂-branes. Note that we can perform the $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ transformation even in the type IIA theory, since, in this duality frame, the $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ transformation is realized as a subgroup of the T-duality group.

The background of a defect $KK5(n_1 \cdots n_5, m)$ -brane smeared in the x^{ℓ} -direction and its exotic-dual background are given by

KK5:
$$ds^2 = \rho_2 |f|^2 dz d\bar{z} + dx_{0n_1 \cdots n_5}^2 + \rho_2 dx_\ell^2 + \rho_2^{-1} (dx^m - \rho_1 dx^\ell)^2,$$

 $e^{2\phi} = 1, \quad B^{(2)} = 0,$
(2.8)

anti-KK5:
$$ds^2 = \rho_2 |f|^2 dz d\bar{z} + dx_{0n_1\cdots n_5}^2 + \rho_2 dx_m^2 + \rho_2^{-1} (dx^\ell + \rho_1 dx^m)^2,$$

 $e^{2\phi} = 1, \quad B^{(2)} = 0.$
(2.9)

The latter corresponds to the background of an anti-KK5 $(n_1 \cdots n_5, \ell)$ -brane smeared in the x^m -direction. Namely, under the exotic-duality transformation, the Taub-NUT direction is interchanged with the smeared direction. The background of a bound state of these KK5-branes is also considered in [28].

Further, there are the following pairs of strings and pp-waves:

F1:
$$ds^2 = \rho_2^{-1} \left(\rho_2 \left| f \right|^2 dz \, d\bar{z} + dx_{0n}^2 \right) + dx_{m_1 \cdots m_6}^2, \quad e^{2\phi} = \rho_2^{-1}, B^{(6)} = \rho_1 dx^{m_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge dx^{m_6}, \quad B^{(2)} = -\rho_2^{-1} \epsilon_{0nm_1 \cdots m_6} dt \wedge dx^n,$$
(2.10)

$$\underline{1_4^6}: \quad \mathrm{d}s^2 = \frac{|\rho|^2}{\rho_2} \left(\rho_2 |f|^2 \,\mathrm{d}z \,\mathrm{d}\bar{z} + \mathrm{d}x_{0n}^2\right) + \mathrm{d}x_{m_1 \cdots m_6}^2, \quad \mathrm{e}^{2\phi} = \frac{|\rho|^2}{\rho_2}, \tag{2.11}$$

$$B^{(3)} = -\frac{1}{|\rho|^2} dx^{m_1} \wedge \dots \wedge dx^{m_6}, \quad B^{(2)} = -\frac{1}{\rho_2} \epsilon_{0nm_1 \dots m_6} dt \wedge dx^n,$$

$$\underline{P}: \quad ds^2 = -2 dt \, dx^n + \rho_2 \, dx_n^2 + |f|^2 \, dz \, d\bar{z} + dx_{m_1 \dots m_6}^2,$$

$$e^{2\phi} = \rho_2^{-1}, \quad B^{(2)} = 0,$$
(2.12)

$$\underbrace{\begin{array}{l} 0_{4}^{(1,6)}: \\ 0_{4}^{(2,6)}: \end{array} ds^{2} = -2 dt dx^{n} + \frac{\rho_{2}}{|\rho|^{2}} dx_{n}^{2} + |\rho|^{2} |f|^{2} dz d\bar{z} + dx_{m_{1}\cdots m_{6}}^{2}, \\ e^{2\phi} = \frac{|\rho|^{2}}{\rho_{2}}, \quad B^{(2)} = 0. \end{array}$$
(2.13)

If we perform a timelike *T*-duality in the D0 or the D0₇ background, we obtain the following defect D-instanton (or more precisely the defect E0-brane [29]) background or another instanton background, to be called $D(-1)_8$:

$$\underline{\mathbf{D}(-1) \quad [\text{IIB}^{\star}]} : \quad \mathrm{d}s^2 = \mathrm{e}^{\phi/2} \left(|f|^2 \,\mathrm{d}z \,\mathrm{d}\bar{z} + \mathrm{d}x^2_{03\dots9} \right), \quad \mathrm{e}^{2\phi} = \rho_2^2, \\ C^{(8)} = \rho_1 \,\mathrm{d}t \wedge \mathrm{d}x^3 \wedge \dots \wedge \mathrm{d}x^9, \qquad C^{(0)} = \rho_2^{-1},$$
(2.14)

$$\underline{D(-1)_8 \quad [IIB^*]:} \quad ds^2 = e^{\phi/2} \left(|\rho|^2 |f|^2 dz d\bar{z} + dx^2_{03\dots9} \right), \quad e^{2\phi} = \frac{\rho_2^2}{|\rho|^4}, \\
C^{(8)} = -\frac{\rho_1}{|\rho|^2} dt \wedge dx^3 \wedge \dots \wedge dx^9, \qquad C^{(0)} = \frac{|\rho|^2}{\rho_2}.$$
(2.15)

These backgrounds satisfy the equations of motion for the type IIB^{*} theory of [29] since we have performed a timelike *T*-duality. The corresponding backgrounds written as solutions of the (*Euclideanised*) type IIB theory are given by (note that the Euclideanisation is given by the replacements $t \to i\tau$ and $C^{(0)} \to iC^{(0)}$, and then $C^{(8)}$ is defined by $dC^{(8)} = -*dC^{(0)}$)

$$\underline{D(-1) \quad [IIB]:} \quad ds^2 = e^{\phi/2} \left(|f|^2 dz d\bar{z} + d\tau^2 + dx_{3\dots9}^2 \right), \quad e^{2\phi} = \rho_2^2, \\
 C^{(8)} = -\rho_1 d\tau \wedge dx^3 \wedge \dots \wedge dx^9, \quad C^{(0)} = \rho_2^{-1},$$
(2.16)

$$\underline{\mathbf{D}(-1)_8 \quad [\text{IIB}]:} \quad \mathrm{d}s^2 = \mathrm{e}^{\phi/2} \left(|\rho|^2 |f|^2 \,\mathrm{d}z \,\mathrm{d}\bar{z} + \mathrm{d}\tau^2 + \mathrm{d}x_{3\dots9}^2 \right), \quad \mathrm{e}^{2\phi} = \frac{\rho_2^2}{|\rho|^4}, \\
C^{(8)} = \frac{\rho_1}{|\rho|^2} \,\mathrm{d}\tau \wedge \mathrm{d}x^3 \wedge \dots \wedge \mathrm{d}x^9, \qquad C^{(0)} = \frac{|\rho|^2}{\rho_2}.$$
(2.17)

Note that these objects are not related to each other by an S-duality, as opposed to the case of seven branes. Further details about instanton backgrounds are discussed in section 5.4.

The uplifts of the above defect backgrounds to eleven dimensions are given in [3, 5, 6] although we do not consider them in this paper.

3 β -supergravity

Recently, it has been pointed out in [4] that the 5_2^2 background (2.7) has a *T*-duality monodromy around the center. That is, globally, we have to glue the background fields in different coordinate patches using a *T*-duality transformation. This kind of *non-geometric background* which requires to use a *T*-duality transformation as a transition function is called a *T*-fold. More generally, a non-geometric background which requires to use a larger duality transformation in string theory, i.e. the *U*-duality symmetry, is called a *U*-fold [30].

In the special case of *T*-folds, we can globally describe the backgrounds within a framework of the double field theory (DFT), which is a *T*-duality covariant reformulation of the low-energy supergravity theory [31–45]. In DFT, in addition to the usual spacetime coordinates x^i (i = 0, 1, ..., 9), we also introduce the "dual" coordinates \tilde{x}_i , and treat them on an equal footing; $(x^I) \equiv (\tilde{x}_i, x^i)$. The fundamental fields of DFT are the generalized metric

$$(\mathcal{H}_{IJ}) \equiv \begin{pmatrix} G^{-1} & -G^{-1} B \\ B G^{-1} & G - B G^{-1} B \end{pmatrix} \quad \left[G \equiv (G_{ij}) \,, \quad B \equiv (B_{ij}) \right], \tag{3.1}$$

and the (*T*-duality invariant) dilaton $e^{-2d} \equiv \sqrt{|G|} e^{-2\phi}$. According to a constraint, called the strong constraint, these fields can depend only on the half of the coordinates. If we choose the background fields to depend only on the usual coordinates x^i , the DFT action reduces to the standard ten-dimensional action for the NS-NS fields. In DFT, a choice of coordinates corresponds to a choice of a *T*-duality frame, and indeed, a *generalized* coordinate transformation, which is a gauge symmetry of DFT, corresponds to an O(10, 10) transformation. More explicitly, under a coordinate transformation, $x^I \to x'^I(x^I)$, the generalized metric (which is a generalized tensor) transforms as [43]

$$\mathcal{H}'_{IJ} = \mathcal{F}_I{}^K \, \mathcal{F}_J{}^L \, \mathcal{H}_{KL} \,, \quad \mathcal{F}_I{}^J \equiv \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial x^K}{\partial x'^I} \frac{\partial x'_K}{\partial x_J} + \frac{\partial x'_I}{\partial x_K} \frac{\partial x^J}{\partial x'^K} \right), \tag{3.2}$$

where indices are raised or lowered by using the O(10, 10)-invariant metric, $\eta = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$.

Now, let us consider a generalized coordinate transformation

$$x'^{i} = \tilde{x}_{i}, \quad \tilde{x}'_{i} = x^{i}, \qquad (3.3)$$

in a standard background that does not depend on the dual coordinates \tilde{x}_i . Since $\mathcal{F}_I{}^J = \delta_I{}^J$, the functional form of the generalized metric \mathcal{H}_{IJ} is invariant, although the background fields become functions only of the dual coordinates \tilde{x}_i . In the "dual" spacetime, spanned by the dual coordinates \tilde{x}_i , a natural set of background fields,¹ which we denote by $(\tilde{G}^{ij}, \tilde{\varphi}, \tilde{B}^{ij})$, is given by

$$\tilde{G}^{ij} \equiv (E^{-1})^{ik} (E^{-1})^{jl} G_{kl}, \quad E \equiv (E_{ij}) \equiv (G_{ij} + B_{ij}),
\tilde{B}^{ij} \equiv (E^{-1})^{ik} (E^{-1})^{jl} B_{kl}, \quad e^{-2\tilde{\varphi}} \sqrt{|\tilde{G}|} \equiv e^{-2\phi} \sqrt{|G|}.$$
(3.4)

These "dual" background fields satisfy the standard ten-dimensional equations of motion for the NS-NS fields with the following replacements:

$$x^i \to \tilde{x}_i, \quad \partial_i \to \tilde{\partial}^i, \quad G_{ij} \to \tilde{G}^{ij}, \quad B_{ij} \to \tilde{B}^{ij}, \quad \sqrt{|G|} e^{-2\phi} \to \sqrt{|\tilde{G}|} e^{-2\tilde{\varphi}}.$$
 (3.5)

Under the generalized coordinate transformation (3.3), the $5_2^2(34567, 89)$ background is mapped to the dual background;

$$\underbrace{5_2^2:}_{\tilde{B}^{(2)}} d\tilde{s}^2 \equiv \tilde{G}^{ij} d\tilde{x}_i d\tilde{x}_j = \rho_2^{-1} |f|^{-2} dz d\bar{z} + d\tilde{x}_{034567}^2 + \rho_2 d\tilde{x}_{89}^2, \\ \tilde{B}^{(2)} \equiv \frac{1}{2} \tilde{B}^{ij} d\tilde{x}_i \wedge d\tilde{x}_j = -\rho_1 d\tilde{x}_8 \wedge d\tilde{x}_9, \quad e^{2\tilde{\varphi}} = |f|^{-2} \rho_2^{-1}.$$
(3.6)

This background has the same form with the (geometric) NS5(34567) background in the usual ten-dimensional spacetime (apart from the 1-2 components of the metric and the dilaton). That is, the 5^2_2 background written in the dual fields (3.6) is a geometric background in a sense that the monodromy, $\rho_1 \rightarrow \rho_1 + \sigma$, is just a gauge transformation associated with the \tilde{B} -field.² The redefinition of the background fields (3.4) is essential in the formulation of the β -supergravity, although we do not introduce the dual coordinates \tilde{x}_i in the β -supergravity.

$$S = -\frac{1}{4\pi\alpha'} \int \mathrm{d}^2\sigma \sqrt{-\eta} \left(\eta^{\alpha\beta}\,\tilde{G}^{ij} + \epsilon^{\alpha\beta}\,\tilde{B}^{ij}\right) \partial_\alpha \tilde{X}_i\,\partial_\beta \tilde{X}_j\,.$$

¹For example, the string sigma model action for the dual coordinates $\tilde{X}_i(\sigma)$ can be written as (see e.g. [30])

²See section 5.1 of [16] for another explanation that the 5_2^2 background (described as a doubled geometry) is geometric; the monodromy is realized as a generalized diffeomorphism there.

3.1 The action and its reduction

In the β -supergravity, the fundamental fields $(\tilde{g}_{ij}, \tilde{\phi}, \tilde{\beta}^{ij})$ (which depend only on the usual ten-dimensional coordinates x^i) are defined by

$$\tilde{g}_{ij} \equiv E_{ik} E_{jl} G^{kl}, \quad \tilde{\beta}^{ij} \equiv (E^{-1})^{ik} (E^{-1})^{jl} B_{kl}, \quad e^{-2\tilde{\phi}} \sqrt{|\tilde{g}|} \equiv e^{-2\phi} \sqrt{|G|}.$$
(3.7)

Note that the metric \tilde{g}_{ij} is the inverse of the dual metric \tilde{G}^{ij} introduced in (3.4), and accordingly the dilaton $\tilde{\phi}$ is different from $\tilde{\varphi}$ given in (3.4). Further, note that $\tilde{\beta}^{ij}$ behaves as a bi-vector under diffeomorphisms (in the standard ten-dimensional spacetime) although its functional form is the same with the "2-form" \tilde{B}^{ij} in the dual spacetime. In a series of papers [17–20], an effective action for $(\tilde{g}_{ij}, \tilde{\phi}, \tilde{\beta}^{ij})$ was proposed and it was shown that the action is equal to the usual action for the NS-NS fields (up to boundary terms) if we rewrite these fields using the original background fields through the relation (3.7). The effective action, written in a manifestly invariant form under diffeomorphisms, is given by [20]

$$S\left[\tilde{g}_{ij}, \tilde{\phi}, \tilde{\beta}^{ij}\right] = \frac{1}{2\kappa_{10}^2} \int d^{10}x \sqrt{|\tilde{g}|} e^{-2\tilde{\phi}} \left(\tilde{R} + 4\,\tilde{g}^{ij}\,\partial_i\tilde{\phi}\,\partial_j\tilde{\phi} + \check{\mathcal{R}}(\tilde{g}_{ij}, \tilde{\beta}^{ij}) - \frac{1}{2}\left|R^{ijk}\right|^2 + 4\left|\tilde{\beta}^{ij}\,\partial_j\tilde{\phi} - \mathcal{T}^i(\tilde{g}_{ij}, \tilde{\beta}^{ij})\right|^2\right),$$
(3.8)

where we defined

$$\begin{split} \breve{\mathcal{R}}^{ij}(\tilde{g}_{ij},\,\tilde{\beta}^{ij}) &\equiv -\tilde{\beta}^{kl}\,\partial_{l}\breve{\Gamma}_{k}^{ij} + \tilde{\beta}^{il}\,\partial_{l}\breve{\Gamma}_{k}^{kj} + \breve{\Gamma}_{k}^{ij}\,\breve{\Gamma}_{l}^{lk} - \breve{\Gamma}_{k}^{li}\,\breve{\Gamma}_{l}^{kj} \,, \\ \breve{\mathcal{R}}(\tilde{g}_{ij},\,\tilde{\beta}^{ij}) &\equiv \tilde{g}_{ij}\,\breve{\mathcal{R}}^{ij}(\tilde{g}_{ij},\,\tilde{\beta}^{ij}) \,, \\ \breve{\Gamma}_{k}^{ij} &\equiv \frac{1}{2}\,\tilde{g}_{kl}\left(-\tilde{\beta}^{im}\,\partial_{m}\tilde{g}^{jl} - \tilde{\beta}^{jm}\,\partial_{m}\tilde{g}^{il} + \tilde{\beta}^{lm}\,\partial_{m}\tilde{g}^{ij}\right) + \tilde{g}_{kl}\,\tilde{g}^{m(i}\,\partial_{m}\tilde{\beta}^{j)l} - \frac{1}{2}\,\partial_{k}\tilde{\beta}^{ij} \,, \\ \mathcal{T}^{i}(\tilde{g}_{ij},\,\tilde{\beta}^{ij}) &\equiv \breve{\Gamma}_{k}^{ki} = \partial_{k}\tilde{\beta}^{ik} - \frac{1}{2}\,\tilde{\beta}^{ij}\,\tilde{g}_{kl}\,\partial_{j}\tilde{g}^{kl} = \nabla_{k}\tilde{\beta}^{ik} \,, \\ R^{ijk} &\equiv 3\,\tilde{\beta}^{l[i}\partial_{l}\tilde{\beta}^{jk]} \,, \quad |V^{i_{1}\cdots i_{p}}|^{2} \equiv \frac{1}{p!}\,\tilde{g}_{i_{1}j_{1}}\cdots\tilde{g}_{i_{p}j_{p}}\,V^{i_{1}\cdots i_{p}}\,V^{j_{1}\cdots j_{p}} \,. \end{split}$$

Note that we can assume that any derivative ∂_i contracted with $\tilde{\beta}^{ij}$ vanishes, as long as we consider the defect backgrounds which satisfy $\tilde{\beta}^{\mathbf{a}i} = 0$ ($\mathbf{a} = 1, 2$) and have isometries in the $03 \cdots 9$ -directions. Under the assumption, the above action reduces to the following simple form [17]:

$$S\left[\tilde{g}_{ij}, \tilde{\phi}, \tilde{\beta}^{ij}\right] = \frac{1}{2\kappa_{10}^2} \int e^{-2\tilde{\phi}} \left(\tilde{*}\tilde{R} + 4\,\mathrm{d}\tilde{\phi}\wedge\tilde{*}\,\mathrm{d}\tilde{\phi} - \frac{1}{4}\,\tilde{g}_{ik}\,\tilde{g}_{jl}\,\boldsymbol{Q}^{(1)\,ij}\wedge\tilde{*}\,\boldsymbol{Q}^{(1)\,kl}\right), \quad (3.10)$$

where the Q-flux, $\mathbf{Q}^{(1)ij} \equiv Q_k^{ij} dx^k \equiv d\tilde{\beta}^{ij}$, is a mixed-symmetry tensor (i.e. a bi-vectorvalued 1-form).³ In this case, the Bianchi identity and the equation of motion for $\tilde{\beta}^{ij}$ become

$$d\mathbf{Q}^{(1)\,ij} = 0\,, \quad d\mathbf{Q}^{(9)}_{ij} = 0\,, \quad \mathbf{Q}^{(9)}_{ij} \equiv e^{-2\tilde{\phi}} \,\,\tilde{g}_{ik} \,\,\tilde{g}_{jl} \,\,\tilde{*} \,\,\mathbf{Q}^{(1)\,kl}\,. \tag{3.11}$$

³In fact, this is not a tensor as we can see from the definition. However, if we assume $\tilde{\beta}^{\mathbf{a}i} = 0$ ($\mathbf{a} = 1, 2$) and the existence of isometries in the $03 \cdots 9$ -directions, Q_k^{ij} transforms as a tensor under diffeomorphisms, $x'^{\mathbf{a}} = x'^{\mathbf{a}}(x^1, x^2)$ and $x'^{\mathbf{p}} = \Lambda^{\mathbf{p}_{\mathbf{q}}} x^{\mathbf{q}}$ ($\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q} = 0, 3, \dots, 9, \Lambda^{\mathbf{p}_{\mathbf{q}}} \in \mathrm{GL}(8, \mathbb{R})$), which respect the assumptions.

Assuming the isometries in the $03 \cdots 9$ -directions and that the background fields satisfy $\tilde{g}_{\mathbf{ap}} = 0$ and $\tilde{\beta}^{\mathbf{a}i} = 0$ ($\mathbf{a} = 1, 2, \mathbf{p} = 0, 3, \ldots, 9$), we can show that $Q_{ij}^{(9)}$ has the following form:

$$\boldsymbol{Q}_{ij}^{(9)} = \left[\boldsymbol{q}_{ij}^{1}(x^{1}, x^{2}) \,\mathrm{d}x^{1} + \boldsymbol{q}_{ij}^{2}(x^{1}, x^{2}) \,\mathrm{d}x^{2}\right] \wedge \mathrm{d}t \wedge \mathrm{d}x^{3} \wedge \dots \wedge \mathrm{d}x^{9} \,. \tag{3.12}$$

Then, using $d\mathbf{Q}_{ij}^{(9)} = 0$, we can always choose a gauge in which the dual potential $\tilde{\beta}_{ij}^{(8)}$, defined by $\mathbf{Q}_{ij}^{(9)} \equiv d\tilde{\beta}_{ij}^{(8)}$, is proportional to $dt \wedge dx^3 \wedge \cdots \wedge dx^9$;

$$\tilde{\beta}_{ij}^{(8)} = \boldsymbol{q}_{ij}^{0}(x^{1}, x^{2}) \,\mathrm{d}t \wedge \mathrm{d}x^{3} \wedge \dots \wedge \mathrm{d}x^{9} \left[\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{q}_{ij}^{0} \equiv \boldsymbol{q}_{ij}^{1}(x^{1}, x^{2}) \,\mathrm{d}x^{1} + \boldsymbol{q}_{ij}^{2}(x^{1}, x^{2}) \,\mathrm{d}x^{2}\right].$$
(3.13)

If we define a contraction of a mixed-symmetry tensor $\tau_{i_1\cdots i_n}^{(8)}$ by

equation (3.13) ensures that $\iota \tilde{\beta}_{ij}^{(8)}$ is a (2-tensor-valued) 6-form. Further, the relation

$$\tilde{\beta}_{\mathbf{pq}}^{(8)} = \frac{1}{2} \iota \tilde{\beta}_{\mathbf{pq}}^{(8)} \wedge \mathrm{d}x^{\mathbf{p}} \wedge \mathrm{d}x^{\mathbf{q}}, \qquad (3.15)$$

is shown to be satisfied.

3.2 5_2^2 -brane as a source of the *Q*-flux

By using the fundamental fields of the β -supergravity, the 5^2_2 background can be written as

$$\underbrace{5_2^2:}_{\tilde{\beta}^{89} = -\rho_1} |f|^2 \, \mathrm{d}z \, \mathrm{d}\bar{z} + \mathrm{d}x_{034567}^2 + \rho_2^{-1} \, \mathrm{d}x_{89}^2, \quad \mathrm{e}^{2\tilde{\phi}} = \rho_2^{-1}, \\ \tilde{\beta}^{89} = -\rho_1, \quad \tilde{\beta}^{(8)}_{89} = \rho_2^{-1} \, \mathrm{d}t \wedge \mathrm{d}x^3 \wedge \cdots \wedge \mathrm{d}x^9,$$
(3.16)

which indeed satisfies the equations of motion for the β -supergravity [8, 14]. This background is quite similar to the NS5-brane background (2.6), although the 8-9 components of the metric and the dilaton are inverted. Since the monodromy around the center simply becomes a gauge transformation ($\tilde{\beta}^{89} \rightarrow \tilde{\beta}^{89} - \sigma$), called the β -transformation, we can conclude that the β -supergravity can describe the 5^2_2 background globally.⁴ On the other hand, the NS5 background, obtained from (3.16) with the replacements (2.5), is not single-valued and non-geometric. Namely, the β -supergravity can be considered as a reformulation of the usual supergravity which is suitable for a global description of the 5^2_2 background, instead of the NS5 background. Similarly, all effective actions proposed in this paper are suitable for a global description of an exotic-brane background, instead of a standard brane background.

⁴In fact, the background fields include a cutoff radius r_c and the geometry gives a good description only for $r \ll r_c$. However, we can smoothly extend the geometry beyond the cutoff radius by introducing additional defect branes, which makes the total energy finite [27, 46], and then the cutoff radius r_c can be interpreted as the distance between the 5_2^2 -brane and a neighboring defect brane [7].

Now, in order to discuss the coupling of the mixed-symmetry tensor $\tilde{\beta}_{ij}^{(8)}$ to the 5²₂brane, we comment on the relation between the definition of $\tilde{\beta}^{ij}$ or $\tilde{\beta}_{ij}^{(8)}$ and that of the corresponding one, \tilde{B}^{mn} or \tilde{B}^{mn}_8 , introduced in the study of the effective worldvolume theory of the 5²₂-brane [12]. In [12], the 2 × 2-matrix \tilde{B}^{mn} is defined by

$$\tilde{B}^{mn} \equiv \frac{\det B_{mn}}{\det E_{mn}} \left(B^{-1} \right)^{mn} \quad (m, n = 8, 9), \qquad (3.17)$$

which is obtained by applying a double *T*-duality T_{89} to B_{mn} . On the other hand, $\tilde{\beta}^{ij}$, defined in (3.7), is obtained by applying the *T*-dualities in all spacetime dimensions to B_{ij} . In order to compare these quantities, we assume that the background satisfies $G_{\mu m} = B_{\mu i} = 0$ ($\mu, \nu = 0, \ldots, 7, m, n = 8, 9$). In this case, we can easily show that the 8-9 components of $\tilde{\beta}^{ij}$ coincide with \tilde{B}^{mn} . Moreover, with the same assumptions, the definition of \tilde{B}_8^{mn} (see (5.14) of [12]) becomes⁵

$$d\iota_{9}\iota_{8}\tilde{B}_{8}^{89} = e^{-2\phi}\sqrt{\det G_{mn}}\,\frac{(\det E_{mn})^{2}}{\det G_{mn}}\,\hat{\star}\,d\tilde{B}^{89}\,,\qquad(3.18)$$

where $\hat{\star}$ is the Hodge star operator associated with the metric $G_{\mu\nu}$. Using that \tilde{g}_{ij} and $e^{-2\tilde{\phi}}$ are now given by

$$(\tilde{g}_{ij}) = \begin{pmatrix} G_{\mu\nu} & 0\\ 0 & \frac{\det E_{mn}}{\det G_{mn}} G_{mn} \end{pmatrix}, \quad e^{-2\tilde{\phi}} \sqrt{\det \tilde{g}_{mn}} = e^{-2\phi} \sqrt{\det G_{mn}}, \quad (3.19)$$

and using the isometries in the 89-directions, we obtain

$$d\tilde{B}_{8}^{89} = e^{-2\tilde{\phi}} \,\tilde{g}_{8k} \,\tilde{g}_{9l} \,\tilde{*} \,d\tilde{B}^{kl} \,, \qquad (3.20)$$

which coincides with the definition of $\tilde{\beta}_{89}^{(8)}$ given in (3.11) with the identification $\tilde{B}^{89} = \tilde{\beta}^{89}$. For a general case where $G_{\mu m}$ and $B_{\mu i}$ are no longer assumed to vanish, definitions of $\tilde{\beta}^{ij}$ and \tilde{B}^{mn} are different. However, this is not a problem since the relation between the field β^{ij} which magnetically couples to the exotic 5²₂-brane, and the original background fields (G_{ij}, B_{ij}) depends on a choice of the duality frame. Namely, under a duality transformation

$$\{G_{ij}, B_{ij}, \cdots\} \to \{G'_{ij}(G_{ij}, B_{ij}, \cdots), B'_{ij}(G_{ij}, B_{ij}, \cdots), \cdots\},$$
(3.21)

the relation between β^{ij} and the original fields is changed; $\beta^{ij} = \tilde{\beta}^{ij}(G_{ij}, B_{ij}) = \hat{\beta}^{ij}(G'_{ij}, B'_{ij})$. In the following, we will basically use the relation $\beta^{ij} = \tilde{\beta}^{ij}(G_{ij}, B_{ij})$ and omit the tilde, since with this definition, we can write down a covariant action (3.8) for β^{ij} with all *i*-*j* components.

⁵Under the assumption $G_{\mu m} = B_{\mu i} = 0$, \tilde{H}^m and θ_m appearing in (5.14) of [12] vanish. In addition, $\det(G_{np} + B_{np})$ in the same equation should be corrected as $(\det E_{mn})^2/(\det G_{mn})$.

As shown in [12, 15], the Wess-Zumino term of the $5^2_2(34567, 89)$ -brane action (smeared in the isometry directions, x^8 and x^9) can be written as

$$S_{WZ}^{5_{2}^{2}} = -\mu_{5_{2}^{2}} n^{89} \int_{\mathcal{M}_{6} \times T_{89}^{2}} \iota \beta_{89}^{(8)} \wedge \frac{\mathrm{d}x^{8} \wedge \mathrm{d}x^{9}}{(2\pi R_{8})(2\pi R_{9})} = -\frac{\mu_{5_{2}^{2}} n^{89}}{(2\pi R_{8})(2\pi R_{9})} \int_{\mathcal{M}_{6} \times T_{89}^{2}} \beta_{89}^{(8)}$$
$$= -\mu_{5_{2}^{2}} \int \beta_{89}^{(8)} \wedge \boldsymbol{\delta}^{89}(x - X(\xi)) \quad (n^{89}: \text{ number of the } 5_{2}^{2}(34567, 89)\text{-branes}) \quad (3.22)$$
$$\left(\boldsymbol{\delta}^{\mathbf{p}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{p}_{n}}(x - X(\xi)) \equiv \frac{n^{\mathbf{p}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{p}_{n}} \, \boldsymbol{\delta}^{2}(x - X(\xi))}{(2\pi R_{\mathbf{p}_{1}})\cdots(2\pi R_{\mathbf{p}_{n}})} \, \mathrm{d}x^{1} \wedge \mathrm{d}x^{2} \,, \quad n^{\mathbf{p}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{p}_{n}} \in \mathbb{Z}\right),$$

where we used (3.15) and \mathcal{M}_6 is the worldvolume of the 5^2_2 -brane, and the Ramond-Ramond fields and the worldvolume gauge fields are turned off for simplicity. Now, let us consider the dual action which is equivalent to (3.10), and additionally includes the Wess-Zumino term:

$$S\left[\tilde{g}_{ij}, \,\tilde{\phi}, \,\beta_{ij}^{(8)}\,\right] = \frac{1}{2\kappa_{10}^2} \,\int \left[e^{-2\tilde{\phi}} \left(\tilde{*}\,\tilde{R} + 4\,\mathrm{d}\tilde{\phi}\wedge\tilde{*}\,\mathrm{d}\tilde{\phi}\right) - \frac{1}{4} \,e^{2\tilde{\phi}}\,\,\tilde{g}^{ik}\,\tilde{g}^{jl}\,\boldsymbol{Q}_{ij}^{(9)}\wedge\tilde{*}\,\boldsymbol{Q}_{kl}^{(9)} \right] \\ -\mu_{5^2_2} \,\int \frac{1}{2}\,\beta_{\mathbf{pq}}^{(8)}\wedge\boldsymbol{\delta}^{\mathbf{pq}}(x - X(\xi))\,.$$
(3.23)

Taking a variation with respect to $\beta_{\mathbf{pq}}^{(8)}$, we obtain the following equation of motion:

$$\frac{1}{2\kappa_{10}^2} \,\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{Q}^{(1)\,\mathbf{pq}} = \frac{\mu_{5_2^2}}{(2\pi R_{\mathbf{p}})(2\pi R_{\mathbf{q}})} \,n^{\mathbf{pq}} \,\delta^2(x - X(\xi)) \,\mathrm{d}x^1 \wedge \mathrm{d}x^2 \,. \tag{3.24}$$

See [12, 14] and appendix D of [16] for the above Bianchi identity for the Q-flux in the presence of the 5_2^2 -branes (or the Q-branes). From (3.24), we conclude that the current for the $5_2^2(n_1 \cdots n_5, m_1 m_2)$ -brane (in the absence of the Ramond-Ramond fields) is given by [16]

$$\tilde{*} j_{5_2^2(n_1 \cdots n_5, m_1 m_2)} = \frac{(2\pi R_{m_1})(2\pi R_{m_2})}{2\kappa_{10}^2 \mu_{5_2^2}} \,\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{Q}^{(1)\,m_1 m_2} \,. \tag{3.25}$$

Having identified the 5_2^2 -brane as a magnetic source of the Q-flux, it is then natural to investigate an object which electrically couples to the β -field. In the β -supergravity, such an object will be described by the following (Euclidean) solution:

$$d\tilde{s}^{2} = |f|^{2} dz d\bar{z} + d\tau^{2} + dx_{34567}^{2} + \rho_{2} dx_{89}^{2}, \quad e^{2\tilde{\phi}} = \rho_{2},$$

$$\beta_{89}^{(8)} = -\rho_{1} d\tau \wedge dx^{3} \wedge \dots \wedge dx^{9}, \quad \beta^{89} = \rho_{2}^{-1}.$$
(3.26)

Indeed, this background has a monodromy given by the shift in the mixed-symmetry tensor, $\beta_{03\cdots9,89}^{(8)} \rightarrow \beta_{03\cdots9,89}^{(8)} - \sigma$, which gives a non-zero electric charge associated with the *Q*-flux;

$$\int d\beta_{03\cdots9,89}^{(8)} = -\sigma \left(2\pi R_0\right) \left(2\pi R_3\right) \cdots \left(2\pi R_9\right).$$
(3.27)

Since β^{89} is a (bi-vector-valued) 0-form, the object which electrically couples to β^{89} will be an instanton that has two special isometry directions, x^8 and x^9 . See section 5.4 for further details about instanton backgrounds.

Now, let us consider how the F1 background (or the 1_4^6 background) can be described in the β -supergravity. If we use the relation (3.7), we will notice that, apparently, we cannot express the background (2.10) (or (2.11)) in terms of the fundamental fields of the β -supergravity since the matrix E_{ij} is not invertible. However, if we consider a gauge transformation $B_{03} \rightarrow B_{03} - a$ (a: constant) in the defect F1(3) background (2.10), we can calculate $(\tilde{g}_{ij}, \tilde{\phi}, \beta^{ij})$:

$$\underline{F1:} \quad d\tilde{s}^{2} = |f|^{2} dz d\bar{z} + e^{2\tilde{\phi}} (dt^{2} - dx_{3}^{2}) + dx_{4\dots9}^{2}, \quad e^{2\tilde{\phi}} = a^{2} (2 a^{-1} + \rho_{2}), \\ \beta_{03}^{(8)} = -a^{2} \rho_{1} dt \wedge dx^{3} \wedge \dots \wedge dx^{9}, \qquad \beta^{03} = \frac{a^{-2}}{2 a^{-1} + \rho_{2}} - a^{-1}.$$
(3.28)

If we choose a = 1 and interchange t with x^3 , and perform a shift in the cutoff radius r_c which makes $2 + \rho_2 \rightarrow \rho_2$, the F1(3) background becomes

F1:
$$d\tilde{s}^2 = |f|^2 dz d\bar{z} + e^{2\tilde{\phi}} (-dt^2 + dx_3^2) + dx_{4\dots 9}^2, \quad e^{2\tilde{\phi}} = \rho_2,$$

 $\beta_{03}^{(8)} = \rho_1 dt \wedge dx^3 \wedge \dots \wedge dx^9, \qquad \beta^{03} = -\rho_2^{-1} + 1,$
(3.29)

which is globally well-defined. Similarly, the 1_4^6 background becomes

$$\underbrace{\mathbf{1}_{4}^{6}:}_{\beta_{03}^{(8)}} = |\rho|^{2} |f|^{2} dz d\bar{z} + e^{2\tilde{\phi}} \left(-dt^{2} + dx_{3}^{2}\right) + dx_{4\dots9}^{2}, \quad e^{2\tilde{\phi}} = \frac{\rho_{2}}{|\rho|^{2}}, \\ \beta_{03}^{(8)} = -\frac{\rho_{1}}{|\rho|^{2}} dt \wedge dx^{3} \wedge \dots \wedge dx^{9}, \qquad \beta^{03} = -\frac{|\rho|^{2}}{\rho_{2}} + 1,$$
(3.30)

which is not single-valued as is the case with the original background (2.11). A possible way to globally describe the 1_4^6 background is discussed in section 5.3.

4 Ramond-Ramond counterpart of the β -supergravity

In the previous section, we reviewed the β -supergravity and explained that it is suitable for describing the non-geometric 5_2^2 background. If we perform an *S*-duality, the 5_2^2 -brane is mapped to the D5₂-brane (or the 5_3^2 -brane). At the same time, the non-geometric *Q*flux, sourced by the 5_2^2 -brane, will be mapped to another non-geometric flux, called the *P*-flux, which is related to the Ramond-Ramond 2-form $C^{(2)}$ instead of the *B*-field. In this section, we write down an effective action for the *P*-flux utilizing the techniques of the β -supergravity and examine the D5₂-brane as a magnetic source of the *P*-flux.

4.1 The effective action for the *P*-flux

Let us begin with the type IIB action in the ten-dimensional Einstein frame:

$$S = \frac{1}{2\kappa_{10}^2} \int \left[*_{\rm E}R_{\rm E} - \frac{\mathrm{d}\tau \wedge *_{\rm E}\mathrm{d}\overline{\tau}}{2\,(\mathrm{Im}\,\tau)^2} - \frac{1}{2\,\mathrm{Im}\,\tau} \left(\mathrm{d}C^{(2)} - \tau\,\mathrm{d}B^{(2)}\right) \wedge *_{\rm E} \left(\mathrm{d}C^{(2)} - \overline{\tau}\,\mathrm{d}B^{(2)}\right) - \frac{1}{4}\,F^{(5)} \wedge *_{\rm E}F^{(5)} \right],$$
(4.1)

where the Chern-Simons term is dropped since it is irrelevant for the following discussions, and we have defined the axio-dilaton τ by

$$\tau \equiv C^{(0)} + i e^{-\phi} . \tag{4.2}$$

If we redefine the axio-dilaton by

$$\tilde{\tau} \equiv \tilde{C}^{(0)} + i e^{-\check{\phi}} \equiv -1/\tau = \frac{-C^{(0)} + i e^{-\phi}}{|\tau|^2},$$
(4.3)

the action becomes

$$S = \frac{1}{2\kappa_{10}^2} \int \left[\ast_{\mathrm{E}} R_{\mathrm{E}} - \frac{\mathrm{d}\widetilde{\tau} \wedge \ast_{\mathrm{E}} \mathrm{d}\overline{\widetilde{\tau}}}{2\,(\mathrm{Im}\,\widetilde{\tau})^2} - \frac{1}{2\,\mathrm{Im}\,\widetilde{\tau}} \left(\mathrm{d}B^{(2)} - \widetilde{\tau}\,\mathrm{d}C^{(2)}\right) \wedge \ast_{\mathrm{E}} \left(\mathrm{d}B^{(2)} - \overline{\widetilde{\tau}}\,\mathrm{d}C^{(2)}\right) - \frac{1}{4}\,F^{(5)} \wedge \ast_{\mathrm{E}}F^{(5)} \right].$$

$$(4.4)$$

Then, in the "string frame" given by $\check{g}_{ij} \equiv e^{\check{\phi}/2} G_{ij}^{E} = e^{\phi/2} |\tau| G_{ij}^{E} = |\tau| G_{ij}$, the action can be rewritten as

$$S = \frac{1}{2\kappa_{10}^2} \int e^{-2\check{\phi}} \left(\check{*}\check{R} + 4\,\mathrm{d}\check{\phi} \wedge \check{*}\,\mathrm{d}\check{\phi} - \frac{1}{2}\,\mathrm{d}C^{(2)} \wedge \check{*}\,\mathrm{d}C^{(2)} \right) - \frac{1}{4\kappa_{10}^2} \int \left[\mathrm{d}\widetilde{C}^{(0)} \wedge \check{*}\,\mathrm{d}\widetilde{C}^{(0)} + \left(\mathrm{d}B^{(2)} - \widetilde{C}^{(0)}\,\mathrm{d}C^{(2)} \right) \wedge \check{*}\left(\mathrm{d}B^{(2)} - \widetilde{C}^{(0)}\,\mathrm{d}C^{(2)} \right) + \frac{1}{2}\,F^{(5)} \wedge \check{*}\,F^{(5)} \right].$$
(4.5)

In a simple case of $B^{(2)} = C^{(0)} = C^{(4)} = 0$, the above action reduces to

$$S[\breve{g}_{ij}, \breve{\phi}, C^{(2)}] = \frac{1}{2\kappa_{10}^2} \int e^{-2\breve{\phi}} \left(\breve{\ast}\breve{R} + 4\,\mathrm{d}\breve{\phi}\wedge\breve{\ast}\,\mathrm{d}\breve{\phi} - \frac{1}{2}\,\mathrm{d}C^{(2)}\wedge\breve{\ast}\,\mathrm{d}C^{(2)}\right),\tag{4.6}$$

which has the same structure with the NS-NS action. We can thus use the techniques of the β -supergravity to rewrite the action into the following form:

$$S[g'_{ij}, \phi', \gamma^{ij}] = \frac{1}{2\kappa_{10}^2} \int d^{10}x \sqrt{|g'|} e^{-2\phi'} \left(R' + 4g'^{ij} \partial_i \phi \partial_j \phi + \check{\mathcal{R}}(g'_{ij}, \gamma^{ij}) - \frac{1}{2} |S^{ijk}|^2 + 4 |\gamma^{ij} \partial_j \phi - \mathcal{T}^i(g'_{ij}, \gamma^{ij})|^2 \right),$$
(4.7)

where $g'_{ij}, \gamma^{ij}, \phi$, and S^{ijk} are defined by

$$g'_{ij} \equiv F_{ik} F_{jl} \breve{g}^{kl}, \quad \gamma^{ij} \equiv (F^{-1})^{ik} (F^{-1})^{jl} C^{(2)}_{kl}, \quad e^{-2\phi'} \sqrt{|g'|} \equiv e^{-2\breve{\phi}} \sqrt{|\breve{g}|}, \qquad (4.8)$$
$$F \equiv (F_{ij}) \equiv (\breve{g}_{ij} - C^{(2)}_{ij}) = (e^{-\phi} G_{ij} - C^{(2)}_{ij}), \quad S^{ijk} \equiv 3 \gamma^{l[i} \partial_l \gamma^{jk]},$$

and R' is the Ricci scalar associated with g'_{ij} , and $\check{\mathcal{R}}$ and \mathcal{T}^i are the same as those defined in (3.9). We then make a further redefinition

$$\tilde{g}_{ij} \equiv e^{-\phi'} g'_{ij}, \quad e^{\tilde{\phi}} \equiv e^{-\phi'}, \qquad (4.9)$$

which brings the action into the following form:

$$\tilde{S}\left[\tilde{g}_{ij}, \tilde{\phi}, \gamma^{ij}\right] = \frac{1}{2\kappa_{10}^2} \int d^{10}x \sqrt{|\tilde{g}|} \left[e^{-2\tilde{\phi}} \left(\tilde{R} + 4\,\tilde{g}^{ij}\,\partial_i\phi\,\partial_j\phi\right) - \frac{1}{2}\,e^{-6\tilde{\phi}}\,\left|S^{ijk}\right|^2 + e^{-4\tilde{\phi}} \left(\tilde{g}_{ij}\,\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}^{ij}(e^{-\tilde{\phi}}\,\tilde{g}_{ij},\,\gamma^{ij}) + 4\left|\gamma^{ij}\,\partial_j\phi - \mathcal{T}^i(e^{-\tilde{\phi}}\,\tilde{g}_{ij},\,\gamma^{ij})\right|^2 \right) \right].$$
(4.10)

To summarize, we performed the redefinition of fields

$$\tilde{g}_{ij} = \frac{\left|\det(e^{-\phi} G_{ij})\right|^{1/2}}{\left|\det F_{ij}\right|^{1/2}} e^{2\phi} F_{ik} F_{jl} G^{kl}, \quad \gamma^{ij} = (F^{-1})^{ik} (F^{-1})^{jl} C_{kl}^{(2)},$$

$$e^{2\tilde{\phi}} = \frac{\left|\det(e^{-\phi} G_{ij})\right|}{\left|\det F_{ij}\right|} e^{2\phi}, \qquad F_{ij} = e^{-\phi} G_{ij} - C_{ij}^{(2)},$$
(4.11)

and the resulting action (4.10) is equal to the type IIB action with $B^{(2)} = C^{(0)} = C^{(4)} = 0$, up to total derivative terms. As we expect naturally, the above action can also be obtained by making the following replacements (like the *S*-duality) in the action of the β -supergravity:

$$\begin{aligned}
G_{ij} &\to e^{-\phi} \ G_{ij} , \quad \phi \to -\phi , \quad B_{ij} \to -C_{ij}^{(2)} , \\
\tilde{g}_{ij} &\to e^{-\tilde{\phi}} \ \tilde{g}_{ij} , \quad \tilde{\phi} \to -\tilde{\phi} , \quad \beta^{ij} \to -\gamma^{ij} .
\end{aligned} \tag{4.12}$$

As in the case of the β -supergravity, if we assume that any derivative ∂_i contracted with γ^{ij} vanishes, the above action reduces to the following simple action:

$$\tilde{S}\left[\tilde{g}_{ij},\,\tilde{\phi},\,\gamma^{ij}\,\right] = \frac{1}{2\kappa_{10}^2} \int \left[\,\mathrm{e}^{-2\tilde{\phi}}\left(\tilde{*}\,\tilde{R} + 4\,\mathrm{d}\phi\wedge\tilde{*}\,\mathrm{d}\phi\right) - \frac{1}{4}\,\mathrm{e}^{-4\tilde{\phi}}\,\,\tilde{g}_{ik}\,\tilde{g}_{jl}\,\boldsymbol{P}^{(1)\,ij}\wedge\tilde{*}\boldsymbol{P}^{(1)\,kl}\,\right],\,\,(4.13)$$

where we defined the *P*-flux by $\mathbf{P}^{(1)ij} \equiv P_k^{ij} dx^k \equiv d\gamma^{ij}$.

4.2 5_3^2 -brane as a source of the *P*-flux

The D5₂(34567, 89) background written in the new background fields $(\tilde{g}_{ij}, \tilde{\phi}, \gamma^{ij})$ is given by

$$\underline{\text{D5}_{2}:} \quad \text{d}\tilde{s}^{2} = \rho_{2}^{1/2} \left(\rho_{2} |f|^{2} \, \text{d}z \, \text{d}\bar{z} + \text{d}x_{034567}^{2} \right) + \rho_{2}^{-1/2} \, \text{d}x_{89}^{2} \,, \quad \text{e}^{2\tilde{\phi}} = \rho_{2} \,,
\gamma^{89} = \rho_{1} \,, \quad \gamma^{(8)}_{89} = -\rho_{2}^{-1} \, \text{d}t \wedge \text{d}x^{3} \wedge \dots \wedge \text{d}x^{9} \,.$$
(4.14)

We can confirm that this background indeed satisfies the equations of motion derived from the action (4.13) (see (5.13)–(5.15) for the explicit form). Note that this is a geometric background since the monodromy is given by a gauge transformation that corresponds to the shift in the γ -field, $\gamma^{89} \rightarrow \gamma^{89} + \sigma$, to be called the γ -transformation.

According to [12, 15], the Wess-Zumino term of the $5^2_3(34567, 89)$ -brane action (smeared in the isometry directions, x^8 and x^9) is written as

$$S_{\rm WZ}^{5_3^2} = -\mu_{5_3^2} \int \gamma_{89}^{(8)} \wedge \boldsymbol{\delta}^{89}(x - X(\xi)) \,, \tag{4.15}$$

where the *B*-field, the Ramond-Ramond 0- and 4-forms, and the worldvolume gauge fields are turned off for simplicity, and $\delta^{89}(x - X(\xi))$ is defined in (3.22). As in the case of the 5²/₂-brane, if we consider the action

$$S\left[\tilde{g}_{ij}, \tilde{\phi}, \gamma_{ij}^{(8)}\right] = \frac{1}{2\kappa_{10}^2} \int \left[e^{-2\tilde{\phi}} \left(\tilde{*}\tilde{R} + 4\,\mathrm{d}\tilde{\phi} \wedge \tilde{*}\,\mathrm{d}\tilde{\phi} \right) - \frac{1}{4} \,e^{4\tilde{\phi}} \,\tilde{g}^{ik} \,\tilde{g}^{jl} \,\boldsymbol{P}_{ij}^{(9)} \wedge \tilde{*}\,\boldsymbol{P}_{kl}^{(9)} \right] - \mu_{5_3^2} \,\int \frac{1}{2} \,\gamma_{\mathbf{pq}}^{(8)} \wedge \boldsymbol{\delta}^{\mathbf{pq}}(x - X(\xi)) \,,$$

$$(4.16)$$

and take a variation with respect to $\gamma_{\mathbf{pq}}^{(8)}$, we obtain the Bianchi identity for the *P*-flux with a source term:

$$\frac{1}{2\kappa_{10}^2} \,\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{P}^{(1)\,\mathbf{pq}} = \frac{\mu_{5_3^2}}{(2\pi R_{\mathbf{p}})(2\pi R_{\mathbf{q}})} \,n^{\mathbf{pq}} \,\delta^2(x - X(\xi)) \,\mathrm{d}x^1 \wedge \mathrm{d}x^2 \,. \tag{4.17}$$

As in the case of the β -supergravity, we can further find a solution corresponding to the (Euclidean) background of an instanton that couples to γ^{ij} electrically. The explicit form of the background fields is given later in the next section (see (5.17)).

5 Effective actions for non-geometric fluxes

In this section, we derive the effective actions for various polyvectors $\gamma^{i_1 \cdots i_{7-p}}$, which are generalizations of the (simple) action (4.13) for γ^{ij} to arbitrary (7 - p)-vectors. From these actions, we can also obtain the effective actions for the non-geometric Q-fluxes; Q_k^{ij} and $Q_k^{i_1 \cdots i_6}$. Since the derivation presented here does not rely on the results of the β supergravity, as for the action for the Q-flux, the derivation can be regarded as another derivation of the (simplified) β -supergravity action. Further, we find two kinds of solutions which correspond to the exotic-brane backgrounds and their electric duals.

5.1 Effective actions for the *P*-fluxes

In this subsection, we consider the following ansatz, which is crucial in deriving the effective actions for the non-geometric *P*-fluxes:

$$ds^{2} = G_{\mathbf{a}\mathbf{b}} dx^{\mathbf{a}} dx^{\mathbf{b}} + G_{\mathbf{p}\mathbf{q}} dx^{\mathbf{p}} dx^{\mathbf{q}} \quad (\text{i.e. } G_{\mathbf{a}\mathbf{p}} = 0),$$

$$B^{(2)} = 0, \quad C^{(p+1)}_{\mathbf{a}i_{1}\cdots i_{p}} = 0, \quad \text{isometries in the } x^{\mathbf{p}}\text{-directions}.$$
(5.1)

It is important to note that, throughout this paper, the bold indices $\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{b}, \mathbf{c}$ run only over 1, 2, while $\mathbf{p}, \ldots, \mathbf{t}$ run over $0, 3, \ldots, 9$. Now, due to a technical reason explained below, we start from the type II^{*} theory [29]. Since the *B*-field is assumed to vanish, the action is given by

$$S = \frac{1}{2\kappa_{10}^2} \int \left[e^{-2\phi} \left(*R + 4 \,\mathrm{d}\phi \wedge * \,\mathrm{d}\phi \right) + \sum_p \frac{a_p}{2} \,\mathrm{d}C^{(p+1)} \wedge * \,\mathrm{d}C^{(p+1)} \right], \tag{5.2}$$

where p is summed over 0, 2 for the type IIA^{*} theory while -1, 1, 3 for the type IIB^{*} theory, and a_p are constants given by $a_p = 1$ (p = -1, 0, 1, 2) and $a_3 = 1/2$.

Let us introduce (7-p)-vector fields $\gamma^{i_1 \cdots i_{7-p}}$ by

$$\gamma^{\mathbf{s}_1\cdots\mathbf{s}_{7-p}} \equiv \frac{1}{(p+1)!} \epsilon^{\mathbf{q}_{p+1}\cdots\mathbf{q}_1\mathbf{s}_1\cdots\mathbf{s}_{7-p}} C^{(p+1)}_{\mathbf{q}_1\cdots\mathbf{q}_{p+1}},$$

$$\gamma^{\mathbf{a}_{i_1}\cdots_{i_{6-p}}} \equiv 0 \qquad \left(\epsilon^{\mathbf{p}_1\cdots\mathbf{p}_8} = \epsilon^{[\mathbf{p}_1\cdots\mathbf{p}_8]}, \ \epsilon^{03\cdots9} = 1\right).$$
(5.3)

Note that, if the metric is diagonal, the map $C_{\mathbf{q}_1\cdots\mathbf{q}_{p+1}}^{(p+1)} \rightarrow \gamma^{\mathbf{s}_1\cdots\mathbf{s}_{7-p}}$ corresponds to performing eight *T*-dualities, $T_{03\dots9}$, which includes a timelike *T*-duality.⁶ Thus, in order to make $\gamma^{i_1\cdots i_{7-p}}$ into a background field in the type II theory, $C^{(p+1)}$ should be a field in the type II^{*} theory, and this is the reason why we start from the type II^{*} theory. In the following, we rewrite the action (5.2) regarding $\gamma^{i_1\cdots i_{7-p}}$ as a fundamental variable, instead of the form field $C^{(p+1)}$. Under the assumptions (5.1), the Ramond-Ramond part of the action (5.2) becomes

$$\frac{1}{2\kappa_{10}^2} \int \mathrm{d}^{10}x \sqrt{|G|} \sum_p \frac{a_p}{2(p+1)!} G^{\mathbf{a}\mathbf{b}} G^{\mathbf{p}_1\mathbf{q}_1} \cdots G^{\mathbf{p}_{p+1}\mathbf{q}_{p+1}} \partial_{\mathbf{a}} C^{(p+1)}_{\mathbf{p}_1\cdots\mathbf{p}_{p+1}} \partial_{\mathbf{b}} C^{(p+1)}_{\mathbf{q}_1\cdots\mathbf{q}_{p+1}}.$$
 (5.4)

By substituting the relation

$$C_{\mathbf{q}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{q}_{p+1}}^{(p+1)} = \frac{1}{(7-p)!} \epsilon_{\mathbf{q}_{p+1}\cdots\mathbf{q}_{1}\mathbf{s}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{s}_{7-p}} \gamma^{\mathbf{s}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{s}_{7-p}} \left(\epsilon_{\mathbf{p}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{p}_{8}} = \epsilon_{[\mathbf{p}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{p}_{8}]}, \ \epsilon_{03\cdots9} = 1\right), \quad (5.5)$$

the action can be written as

$$-\frac{1}{2\kappa_{10}^2}\int \mathrm{d}^{10}x\sqrt{|G|}\sum_p \frac{a_p\,\Delta^{-1}}{2\,(7-p)!}\,G^{\mathbf{a}\mathbf{b}}\,G_{\mathbf{r}_1\mathbf{s}_1}\cdots G_{\mathbf{r}_{7-p}\mathbf{s}_{7-p}}\,\partial_{\mathbf{a}}\gamma^{\mathbf{r}_1\cdots\mathbf{r}_{7-p}}\,\partial_{\mathbf{b}}\gamma^{\mathbf{s}_1\cdots\mathbf{s}_{7-p}}\,,\quad(5.6)$$

where we defined $\Delta \equiv |\det G_{\mathbf{pq}}|$ and used the identity

$$\frac{1}{(p+1)! [(7-p)!]^2} G^{\mathbf{p}_1 \mathbf{q}_1} \cdots G^{\mathbf{p}_{p+1} \mathbf{q}_{p+1}} \epsilon_{\mathbf{p}_1 \cdots \mathbf{p}_{p+1} \mathbf{r}_1 \cdots \mathbf{r}_{7-p}} \epsilon_{\mathbf{q}_1 \cdots \mathbf{q}_{p+1} \mathbf{s}_1 \cdots \mathbf{s}_{7-p}} \\
= -\frac{\Delta^{-1}}{(7-p)!} G_{\mathbf{t}_1 \mathbf{s}_1} \cdots G_{\mathbf{t}_{7-p} \mathbf{s}_{7-p}} \delta^{[\mathbf{t}_1}_{[\mathbf{r}_1} \cdots \delta^{\mathbf{t}_{7-p}]}_{\mathbf{r}_{7-p}]}.$$
(5.7)

Thus, the action becomes

$$S = \frac{1}{2\kappa_{10}^2} \int \left[e^{-2\phi} \left(*R + 4 \,\mathrm{d}\phi \wedge * \,\mathrm{d}\phi \right) - \sum_p \frac{a_p \,\Delta^{-1}}{2 \,(7-p)!} \,\boldsymbol{P}^{(1)\,i_1 \cdots i_{7-p}} \wedge * \boldsymbol{P}^{(1)}_{i_1 \cdots i_{7-p}} \right], \quad (5.8)$$

where we defined the P-flux by

$$\boldsymbol{P}^{(1)\,i_1\cdots i_{7-p}} \equiv P_j^{\,i_1\cdots i_{7-p}}\,\mathrm{d}x^j \equiv \mathrm{d}\gamma^{i_1\cdots i_{7-p}}\,.$$
(5.9)

Due to the presence of Δ^{-1} , if we treat $\mathbf{P}^{(1)i_1\cdots i_{7-p}}$ as tensors (see footnote 3) this action is not invariant under diffeomorphisms in the eight-dimensional spacetime, spanned by $x^{\mathbf{p}}$. This issue is resolved by making a redefinition of the metric and the dilaton.

⁶If we instead define γ as $C_{j_1\cdots j_{p+1}}^{(p+1)} = \epsilon_{j_{p+1}\cdots j_1i_1\cdots i_{9-p}} \gamma^{i_1\cdots i_{9-p}}/(9-p)!$, which corresponds to taking *T*-dualities in all spacetime directions, $\gamma^{i_1\cdots i_{9-p}}$ coincides with $\tilde{C}^{i_1\cdots i_{9-p}}$ defined in (6.15) of [35].

Since the redefinition depends on the degree p, in the following, we consider the case where only a Ramond-Ramond p-form (with $p \neq 3$) is non-vanishing:

$$S = \frac{1}{2\kappa_{10}^2} \int \left[e^{-2\phi} \left(*R + 4 \, \mathrm{d}\phi \wedge * \, \mathrm{d}\phi \right) - \frac{\Delta^{-1}}{2 \, (7-p)!} \, \boldsymbol{P}^{(1) \, i_1 \cdots i_{7-p}} \wedge * \boldsymbol{P}^{(1)}_{i_1 \cdots i_{7-p}} \right]. \tag{5.10}$$

In this case, with the redefinition of the metric and the dilaton

$$d\tilde{s}^{2} \equiv e^{\frac{4}{p-3}\phi} e^{\frac{p+1}{p-3}\eta} G_{\mathbf{a}\mathbf{b}} dx^{\mathbf{a}} dx^{\mathbf{b}} + e^{\eta} G_{\mathbf{p}\mathbf{q}} dx^{\mathbf{p}} dx^{\mathbf{q}},$$

$$e^{2\tilde{\phi}} \equiv e^{2\phi+4\eta}, \quad e^{\eta} \equiv \left(e^{-2\phi} \Delta^{1/2}\right)^{\frac{2}{p-3}},$$
(5.11)

we can show that the action (5.10) is equal to the following action up to total derivative terms (see appendix A for the detail):

$$S = \frac{1}{2\kappa_{10}^2} \int \left[e^{-2\tilde{\phi}} \left(\tilde{*} \tilde{R} + 4 d\tilde{\phi} \wedge \tilde{*} d\tilde{\phi} \right) - \frac{1}{2(7-p)!} e^{-4\tilde{\phi}} \boldsymbol{P}^{(1) i_1 \cdots i_{7-p}} \wedge \tilde{*} \boldsymbol{P}^{(1)}_{i_1 \cdots i_{7-p}} \right], \quad (5.12)$$

which reduces to the action (4.13) in a special case of p = 5.

The equations of motion are obtained as follows:

$$\tilde{R} + 4\left(\tilde{\nabla}^{i}\partial_{i}\tilde{\phi} - \tilde{g}^{ij}\partial_{i}\tilde{\phi}\partial_{j}\tilde{\phi}\right) - \frac{\mathrm{e}^{-2\phi}}{(7-p)!}P_{i}^{j_{1}\cdots j_{7-p}}P^{i}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{7-p}} = 0, \qquad (5.13)$$

$$\tilde{R}_{ij} + 2\tilde{\nabla}_i \partial_j \tilde{\phi} - \frac{\mathrm{e}^{-2\phi}}{2(7-p)!} \left(P_i^{k_1 \cdots k_{7-p}} P_{jk_1 \cdots k_{7-p}} - (7-p) P_{k_1 i}^{k_2 \cdots k_{7-p}} P^{k_1}{}_{jk_2 \cdots k_{7-p}} + \frac{1}{2} P_k^{l_1 \cdots l_{7-p}} P^k{}_{l_1 \cdots l_{7-p}} \tilde{g}_{ij} \right) = 0, \qquad (5.14)$$

$$d\mathbf{P}_{i_1\cdots i_{7-p}}^{(9)} = 0, \quad \mathbf{P}_{i_1\cdots i_{7-p}}^{(9)} \equiv e^{-4\tilde{\phi}} \, \tilde{g}_{i_1j_1}\cdots \tilde{g}_{i_{7-p}j_{7-p}} \, \tilde{*} \, \mathbf{P}^{(1)\,j_1\cdots j_{7-p}} \,. \tag{5.15}$$

In this theory, we can find the following two solutions. The first one

$$\underline{\mathrm{D}}p_{7-p}: \quad \mathrm{d}\tilde{s}^{2} = \rho_{2}^{1/2} \left(\rho_{2} \left|f\right|^{2} \mathrm{d}z \,\mathrm{d}\bar{z} + \mathrm{d}x_{0n_{1}\cdots n_{p}}^{2}\right) + \rho_{2}^{-1/2} \,\mathrm{d}x_{m_{1}\cdots m_{7-p}}^{2}, \quad \mathrm{e}^{2\tilde{\phi}} = \rho_{2}^{\frac{p-3}{2}}, \quad (5.16)$$

$$\gamma^{m_{1}\cdots m_{7-p}} = \rho_{1}, \quad \gamma_{m_{1}\cdots m_{7-p}}^{(8)} = -\rho_{2}^{-1} \,\mathrm{d}t \wedge \mathrm{d}x^{3} \wedge \cdots \wedge \mathrm{d}x^{9},$$

is a generalization of (4.14) and has a monodromy given by a γ -transformation, $\gamma^{m_1 \cdots m_{7-p}} \rightarrow \gamma^{m_1 \cdots m_{7-p}} + \sigma$. That is, it has a magnetic charge associated with the *P*-flux and should correspond to the background of the exotic Dp_{7-p} -brane.

On the other hand, the second (Euclidean) solution

$$d\tilde{s}^{2} = \rho_{2}^{-1/2} \left(|f|^{2} dz d\bar{z} + d\tau^{2} + dx_{n_{1}\cdots n_{p}}^{2} \right) + \rho_{2}^{1/2} dx_{m_{1}\cdots m_{7-p}}^{2}, \quad e^{2\tilde{\phi}} = \rho_{2}^{\frac{3-p}{2}}, \quad (5.17)$$

$$\gamma_{m_{1}\cdots m_{7-p}}^{(8)} = -\rho_{1} d\tau \wedge dx^{3} \wedge \cdots \wedge dx^{9}, \quad \gamma^{m_{1}\cdots m_{7-p}} = \rho_{2}^{-1},$$

has an electric charge associated with the *P*-flux and will correspond to an instanton with special isometry directions, $x^{m_1}, \ldots, x^{m_{7-p}}$, which is similar to the solution obtained in (3.26).

In the case of p = 3, we cannot perform the redefinition (5.11), and do not know how to derive the action (5.12). However, if the action is derived from a suitable field redefinition, we can confirm that the above backgrounds with p = 3 indeed satisfy the equations of motion.

5.2 Relating the new and the original background fields

In this subsection, we discuss the exotic duality further and investigate a relation between the fundamental fields of the theory (5.12) and the standard background fields.

Exotic duality. In order to examine the exotic duality, let us consider a simple configuration

$$ds^{2} = G_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} + G_{mn} dx^{m} dx^{n} \quad (G_{mn} : \text{ diagonal}),$$

$$C^{(7-p)} = C^{(7-p)}_{(p+3)\cdots9} dx^{p+3} \wedge \cdots \wedge dx^{9} \qquad (5.18)$$

$$(\mu, \nu = 0, \dots, p+2, \quad \mathbf{m}, \mathbf{n} = p+3, \dots, 9),$$

which includes the $Dp(3 \cdots (p+2))$ and the $Dp_{7-p}(3 \cdots (p+2), (p+3) \cdots 9)$ background in the type II theory. For this kind of simple background, it is convenient to take a $T_{9\cdots(p+3)}$ duality and describe it in the type IIB theory. The resulting type IIB background (in the Einstein frame) after performing the $T_{9\cdots(p+3)}$ -duality is given by

$$d\tilde{s}_{\rm E}^2 = \mathrm{e}^{-\tilde{\phi}/2} \left(\tilde{G}_{\mu\nu} \,\mathrm{d}x^{\mu} \mathrm{d}x^{\nu} + \tilde{G}_{\mathsf{mn}} \,\mathrm{d}x^{\mathsf{m}} \mathrm{d}x^{\mathsf{n}} \right) \quad \left(\tilde{G}_{\mu\nu} \equiv G_{\mu\nu} \,, \ \tilde{G}_{\mathsf{mn}} \equiv G^{\mathsf{mn}} \right) ,$$

$$\tilde{\tau} \equiv \tilde{C}^{(0)} + \mathrm{i} \,\mathrm{e}^{-\tilde{\phi}} \equiv C^{(7-p)}_{(p+3)\cdots9} + \mathrm{i}\sqrt{\det G_{\mathsf{mn}}} \,\mathrm{e}^{-\phi} \equiv \tau_{[(p+3)\cdots9]} \,.$$
(5.19)

Since the type IIB theory has the well-known $SL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ -duality symmetry,

$$G_{ij}^{\rm E} \to G_{ij}^{\rm E}, \quad \tau_{[(p+3)\cdots9]} \to \tau_{[(p+3)\cdots9]}' = \frac{a \,\tau_{[(p+3)\cdots9]} + b}{c \,\tau_{[(p+3)\cdots9]} + d}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} a \ b \\ c \ d \end{pmatrix} \in {\rm SL}(2,\mathbb{Z}), \quad (5.20)$$

performing the SL(2, \mathbb{Z}) transformation followed by a $T_{(p+3)\dots 9}$ -duality transformation, we obtain a new background in the original type II theory (see (2.3) of [3] for a similar argument). In particular, performing $T_{9\dots(p+3)}$ -S- $T_{(p+3)\dots 9}$ -duality transformations, the background (5.18) is mapped to the following background (in the string frame):

$$ds'^{2} = |\tau_{[(p+3)\cdots9]}| G_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} + |\tau_{[(p+3)\cdots9]}|^{-1} G_{mn} dx^{m} dx^{n},$$

$$C'^{(7-p)} = -\frac{C^{(7-p)}_{(p+3)\cdots9}}{|\tau_{[(p+3)\cdots9]}|^{2}} dx^{p+3} \wedge \cdots \wedge dx^{9}, \quad e^{2\phi'} = |\tau_{[(p+3)\cdots9]}|^{p-3} e^{2\phi}.$$
(5.21)

For the $Dp(3\cdots(p+2))$ -brane background, we have $\tau_{[(p+3)\cdots 9]} = \rho_1 + i\rho_2 = \rho(z)$, and we can confirm that the above transformation rule coincides with that of the exotic duality transformation given in (2.5).

The transformation rule (5.21) under the exotic duality can be applied only for *p*branes extending in the $3 \cdots (p+2)$ -directions. However, for a special case of p = 5, without assuming $C^{(2)} = C_{89}^{(2)} dx^8 \wedge dx^9$, we can write down the following transformation rule which exchanges a D5-brane and an exotic D5₂-brane extending in arbitrary $x^{\mathbf{p}}$ -directions:⁷

$$\widetilde{G}_{\mathbf{ab}} = \left|\det F_{\mathbf{pq}}\right|^{1/2} G_{\mathbf{ab}}, \quad \widetilde{G}_{\mathbf{pq}} = \left|\det F_{\mathbf{pq}}\right|^{1/2} (F^{-1})^{\mathbf{pr}} (F^{-1})^{\mathbf{qs}} G_{\mathbf{rs}}, \\
e^{2\widetilde{\phi}} = \left|\det F_{\mathbf{pq}}\right| e^{2\phi}, \qquad \widetilde{C}_{\mathbf{pq}}^{(2)} = (F^{-1})^{\mathbf{pr}} (F^{-1})^{\mathbf{qs}} C_{\mathbf{rs}}^{(2)} \quad \left(F_{\mathbf{pq}} \equiv e^{-\phi} G_{\mathbf{pq}} - C_{\mathbf{pq}}^{(2)}\right).$$
(5.22)

 $^7\mathrm{Note}$ that the transformation rule is deformed in the presence of other background fields, such as the B-field.

This corresponds to an S-duality transformation followed by $T_{03\dots9}$ -dualities and an Sduality transformations.

For general p, we do not know a covariant expression like (5.22), but we here assume the existence of a transformation rule which interchanges D*p*-branes with D*p*_{7-*p*}-branes:

$$(G_{ij}, \phi, C^{(7-p)}) \xrightarrow{\text{exotic duality}} (\widetilde{G}_{ij}, \widetilde{\phi}, \widetilde{C}^{(7-p)}).$$
 (5.23)

Performing an S-duality, we can also obtain the transformation rule for the fields in the NS-NS sector. That is, if we consider a configuration

$$ds^{2} = G_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} + G_{mn} dx^{m} dx^{n} \quad (G_{mn}: \text{ diagonal}),$$

$$B^{(7-p)} = B^{(7-p)}_{(p+3)\cdots9} dx^{p+3} \wedge \cdots \wedge dx^{9}$$
(5.24)

with p = 1 or p = 5, and define a complex field

$$\tau_{[(p+3)\cdots9]}^{\rm NS} \equiv B_{(p+3)\cdots9}^{(7-p)} + i\sqrt{\det G_{\rm mn}} \,e^{-\frac{5-p}{2}\phi}, \qquad (5.25)$$

the configuration after the action of the exotic duality (i.e. the S-dual of (5.21)) is given by

$$ds'^{2} = \left|\tau_{[(p+3)\cdots9]}^{NS}\right|^{\frac{p-1}{2}} G_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} + \left|\tau_{[(p+3)\cdots9]}^{NS}\right|^{\frac{p-5}{2}} G_{mn} dx^{m} dx^{n},$$

$$B'^{(7-p)} = -\frac{B^{(7-p)}_{(p+3)\cdots9}}{\left|\tau_{[(p+3)\cdots9]}^{NS}\right|^{2}} dx^{p+3} \wedge \cdots \wedge dx^{9}, \quad e^{2\phi'} = \left|\tau_{[(p+3)\cdots9]}^{NS}\right|^{-(p-3)} e^{2\phi}.$$
(5.26)

We can easily verify that this transformation rule with p = 5 exchanges the NS5(34567) background (2.6) and the $5_2^2(34567, 89)$ background (2.7), and that with p = 1 exchanges the F1(3) background (2.10) and the $1_4^6(3, 456789)$ background (2.11) with each other. Note that the combination $\tau_{[89]}^{NS} = B_{89} + i\sqrt{\det G_{mn}}$ frequently appears in the discussion of the monodromy of NS5(34567)- and $5_2^2(34567, 89)$ -branes (see e.g., [6, 28]).

On the relation between $(\tilde{g}_{ij}, \tilde{\phi}, \gamma^{i_1 \cdots i_{7-p}})$ and $(G_{ij}, \phi, C^{(7-p)})$. Now, we discuss a possible relation between the γ -field, $\gamma^{i_1 \cdots i_{7-p}}$, and the standard background fields; $(G_{ij}, \phi, C^{(7-p)})$. We here assume the ansatz (5.1), and further, G_{pq} is diagonal. Then, we consider the following sequence of dualities:

$$(G_{ij}, \phi, C^{(7-p)}) \xrightarrow{\text{exotic duality}} (\widetilde{G}_{ij}, \widetilde{\phi}, \widetilde{C}^{(7-p)}) \xrightarrow{T_{03456789}} (G_{ij}^{\star}, \phi^{\star}, C^{\star(p+1)})_{\text{II}^{\star}}.$$
 (5.27)

If we consider a non-geometric Dp_{7-p} -brane background on the leftmost side, the background in the middle has the same form with the geometric Dp-brane background, and the background on the rightmost side has the same form with the E(7-p)-brane background [29] in the type II^{*} theory. Due to the assumption that G_{pq} is diagonal, the relation between $(\tilde{G}_{ij}, \tilde{\phi}, \tilde{C}^{(7-p)})$ and $(G_{ij}^*, \phi^*, C^{*(p+1)})$ is given by

$$\widetilde{G}_{\mathbf{ab}} = G_{\mathbf{ab}}^{\star}, \quad \widetilde{G}^{\mathbf{pq}} = G_{\mathbf{pq}}^{\star}, \quad e^{-2\widetilde{\phi}} \sqrt{|\det \widetilde{G}_{\mathbf{pq}}|} = e^{-2\phi^{\star}} \sqrt{|\det G_{\mathbf{pq}}^{\star}|},$$

$$\widetilde{C}_{\mathbf{s}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{s}_{7-p}}^{(7-p)} = \frac{1}{(p+1)!} \epsilon^{\mathbf{q}_{p+1}\cdots\mathbf{q}_{1}\mathbf{s}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{s}_{7-p}} C_{\mathbf{q}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{q}_{p+1}}^{\star(p+1)}.$$
(5.28)

Then, with the identification of $(G_{ij}^{\star}, \phi^{\star}, C^{\star(p+1)})_{\Pi^{\star}}$ and the fields $(G_{ij}, \phi, C^{(7-p)})$ appearing in (5.11), we obtain the following expression for $(\tilde{g}_{ij}, \tilde{\phi}, \gamma^{i_1 \cdots i_{7-p}})$:

$$(\tilde{g}_{ij}) = \begin{pmatrix} e^{\frac{4}{p-3}\phi^{\star}} e^{\frac{p+1}{p-3}\eta} G_{\mathbf{ab}}^{\star} & 0 \\ 0 & e^{\eta} G_{\mathbf{pq}}^{\star} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} e^{-\frac{4}{p-3}\tilde{\phi}} e^{\frac{7-p}{p-3}\eta} \tilde{G}_{\mathbf{ab}} & 0 \\ 0 & e^{\eta} \tilde{G}^{\mathbf{pq}} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$e^{2\tilde{\phi}} = e^{2\phi^{\star}+4\eta} = e^{-2\tilde{\phi}+(7-p)\eta}, \quad \gamma^{\mathbf{s}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{s}_{7-p}} = \tilde{C}_{\mathbf{s}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{s}_{7-p}}^{(7-p)},$$

$$e^{\eta} = \left(e^{-2\phi^{\star}} \sqrt{|\det G_{\mathbf{pq}}^{\star}|} \right)^{\frac{2}{p-3}} = \left(e^{-2\tilde{\phi}} \sqrt{|\det \widetilde{G}_{\mathbf{pq}}|} \right)^{\frac{2}{p-3}}.$$

$$(5.29)$$

The inverse relation is given by

$$(\widetilde{G}_{ij}) = \begin{pmatrix} e^{-\frac{4}{p-3}\widetilde{\phi}} e^{\frac{7-p}{p-3}\eta} \widetilde{g}_{\mathbf{ab}} & 0\\ 0 & e^{\eta} \widetilde{g}^{\mathbf{pq}} \end{pmatrix}, \quad e^{2\widetilde{\phi}} = e^{-2\widetilde{\phi} + (7-p)\eta},$$

$$\widetilde{C}^{(7-p)}_{\mathbf{s}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{s}_{7-p}} = \gamma^{\mathbf{s}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{s}_{7-p}}, \quad e^{\eta} = \left(e^{-2\widetilde{\phi}} \sqrt{|\det\widetilde{g}_{\mathbf{pq}}|} \right)^{\frac{2}{p-3}}.$$
(5.30)

In a case where $(G_{ij}, \phi, C^{(7-p)})$ in (5.27) is given by the Dp_{7-p} background, $(\tilde{G}_{ij}, \tilde{\phi}, \tilde{C}^{(7-p)})$ in (5.27) has the same form with the Dp background. Since the Dp background (2.3) satisfies $\eta = 0$ and $e^{-\frac{4}{p-3}\tilde{\phi}} = \rho_2$,⁸ we obtain the following expression for $(\tilde{g}_{ij}, \tilde{\phi}, \gamma^{i_1 \cdots i_{7-p}})$:

$$\underline{\mathrm{D}}p_{7-p}: \quad \mathrm{d}\tilde{s}^2 = \rho_2^{1/2} \left(\rho_2 |f|^2 \,\mathrm{d}z \,\mathrm{d}\bar{z} + \mathrm{d}x_{0n_1\cdots n_p}^2 \right) + \rho_2^{-1/2} \,\mathrm{d}x_{m_1\cdots m_{7-p}}^2, \\ \quad \mathrm{e}^{2\tilde{\phi}} = \rho_2^{\frac{p-3}{2}}, \quad \gamma^{m_1\cdots m_{7-p}} = \rho_1,$$
(5.31)

which exactly reproduces the solution found in (5.16).

To summarize, the derivation of the theory presented in this section consists of two steps:

1st step:
$$(G_{ij}, \phi, C^{(7-p)}) \xrightarrow{\text{exotic duality}} (\widetilde{G}_{ij}, \widetilde{\phi}, \widetilde{C}^{(7-p)}),$$
 (5.32)

2nd step:
$$(\widetilde{G}_{ij}, \widetilde{\phi}, \widetilde{C}^{(7-p)}) \stackrel{\text{field redefinition}}{\longrightarrow} (\widetilde{g}_{ij}, \widetilde{\phi}, \gamma^{i_1 \cdots i_{7-p}}).$$
 (5.33)

The first step is the exotic duality which is just a U-duality transformation that maps a non-geometric background to a standard geometric background. The second step is given by the field redefinition (5.29) which converts a (7-p)-form field into a (7-p)-vector, and after the redefinition, the action has the form (5.12).

Although we do not know the general expression for the transformation rule under the exotic duality, for example, in the case of p = 5 where the transformation is given by (5.22),

⁸Since η is invariant under an S-duality or T-dualities in the $x^{\mathbf{p}}$ -directions, all defect backgrounds considered in section 2 satisfy $\eta = 0$.

we can obtain the following relation between $(\tilde{g}_{ij}, \tilde{\phi}, \gamma^{i_1 \cdots i_{7-p}})$ and $(G_{ij}, \phi, C^{(7-p)})$:

$$(\tilde{g}_{ij}) = \frac{|\det G_{\mathbf{pq}}|^{1/2}}{|\det F_{\mathbf{pq}}|^{1/2}} e^{-2\phi} \begin{pmatrix} e^{-2\phi} G_{\mathbf{ab}} & 0\\ 0 & F_{\mathbf{pr}} F_{\mathbf{qs}} G^{\mathbf{rs}} \end{pmatrix}$$

$$= \frac{|\det (e^{-\phi} G_{ij})|^{1/2}}{|\det F_{ij}|^{1/2}} e^{2\phi} \begin{pmatrix} F_{\mathbf{ak}} F_{\mathbf{b}l} G^{kl} & 0\\ 0 & F_{\mathbf{pk}} F_{\mathbf{q}l} G^{kl} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$e^{2\tilde{\phi}} = \frac{|\det G_{\mathbf{pq}}|}{|\det F_{\mathbf{pq}}|} e^{-6\phi} = \frac{|\det (e^{-\phi} G_{ij})|}{|\det F_{ij}|} e^{2\phi},$$

$$\gamma^{\mathbf{pq}} = (F^{-1})^{\mathbf{pr}} (F^{-1})^{\mathbf{qs}} C^{(2)}_{\mathbf{rs}} = (F^{-1})^{\mathbf{pi}} (F^{-1})^{\mathbf{qj}} C^{(2)}_{ij},$$

$$(5.34)$$

where we used the assumptions $G_{\mathbf{ap}} = C_{\mathbf{a}i}^{(2)} = 0$. This is precisely equal to the relation (4.11), and the presentation given in this section serves as an alternative derivation of the theory (4.13) with its generalization for general values of p (with $p \neq 3$).

Duality rules for the new background fields. Here, we comment on the duality rules for the new background fields $(\tilde{g}_{ij}, \tilde{\phi}, \gamma^{i_1 \cdots i_7 - p})$ under the *U*-duality transformations. By the construction of the theory presented in this section, it will be natural to define the transformation rule in the following manner.

Let us begin with a configuration $(\tilde{g}_{ij}, \tilde{\phi}, \gamma^{i_1 \cdots i_{7-p}})$ which satisfies the equations of motion derived from the action (5.12). In order to perform a U-duality, we first transform these fields into $(\tilde{G}_{ij}, \tilde{\phi}, \tilde{C}^{(7-p)})$ using the relation (5.30). Secondly, we use the standard transformation rules under the U-duality to obtain a new background $(\tilde{G}'_{ij}, \tilde{\phi}', \tilde{C}'^{(7-p')}, \cdots)$, where the ellipsis represents possible additional fields such as the *B*-field. Finally, using the relation (5.29),⁹ we can obtain the U-dual background $(\tilde{g}'_{ij}, \tilde{\phi}', \gamma'^{i_1 \cdots i_{7-p'}}, \cdots)$. At the same time, the original background fields $(G_{ij}, \phi, C^{(7-p')})$ should be transformed into $(G'_{ij}, \phi', C'^{(7-p')})$, which is the exotic dual of the background $(\tilde{G}'_{ij}, \tilde{\phi}', \tilde{C}'^{(7-p')}, \cdots)$.

As an example, let us consider a simple configuration given by

$$d\tilde{s}^{2} = \tilde{g}_{ab} dx^{a} dx^{b} + \tilde{g}_{pq} dx^{p} dx^{q} + \tilde{g}_{99} dx_{9}^{2}, \quad \gamma^{(p+2)\cdots 8} = a \qquad (p, q = 0, 3\dots, 8).$$
(5.35)

In this case, if we take a T-duality in the x^9 -direction, from the above procedure, we can straightforwardly obtain the following T-dual background:

$$d\tilde{s}^{\prime 2} = \left(e^{\frac{4\tilde{\phi}}{(p-3)(p-4)} + \frac{4\eta}{p-3}} \tilde{g}_{99}^{-\frac{2}{p-4}}\right) \tilde{g}_{\mathbf{a}\mathbf{b}} dx^{\mathbf{a}} dx^{\mathbf{b}} + \tilde{g}_{pq} dx^{p} dx^{q} + e^{-2\eta} \tilde{g}_{99}^{-1} dx_{9}^{2},$$

$$e^{2\tilde{\phi}^{\prime}} = e^{2\tilde{\phi} + 2\eta} \tilde{g}_{99}^{-1}, \quad \gamma^{\prime(p+2)\cdots9} = a.$$
(5.36)

We can easily confirm that this relation indeed maps the $Dp_{7-p}(3\cdots(p+1)9,(p+2)\cdots8)$ background (5.16) to the $D(p-1)_{8-p}(3\cdots(p+1),(p+2)\cdots9)$ background. In this way, we can show that the γ -fields follow the rule, $\gamma^{i_1\cdots i_p} \to \gamma^{i_1\cdots i_p y}$ or $\gamma^{i_1\cdots i_p y} \to \gamma^{i_1\cdots i_p}$, under the T_y -duality transformation, which is similar to the rule for the Ramond-Ramond fields.

 $^{^{9}}$ Note that the relation (5.29) should be generalized if additional fields, such as the *B*-field, have non-vanishing values.

In the case of general U-duality transformation, since multiple Ramond-Ramond fields and the B-field have non-vanishing values, we can no more use the relation (5.29). However, as we discuss in the next subsection, in the case of an S-duality transformation, we can obtain a relation similar to (5.29) and derive the β -supergravity.

5.3 Effective actions for *Q*-fluxes

We here present another derivation of the (simplified) action (3.10) for the β -supergravity from the action (5.12). We further obtain an action for a non-geometric flux which has an exotic string (i.e. 1⁶₄-brane) as the magnetic source.

Alternative derivation of the β -supergravity. Let us consider an S-duality transformation given by

$$\widetilde{G}_{ij} \to e^{-\widetilde{\phi}} \widetilde{G}_{ij}, \quad \widetilde{\phi} \to -\widetilde{\phi}, \quad \widetilde{C}_{ij}^{(2)} \to -\widetilde{B}_{ij},
\widetilde{g}_{ij} \to e^{-\widetilde{\phi}} \widetilde{g}_{ij}, \quad \widetilde{\phi} \to -\widetilde{\phi}, \quad \gamma^{ij} \to -\beta^{ij}, \quad \eta \to -\eta.$$
(5.37)

Under the redefinition of fields, the action (5.12) and the relation (5.29) with p = 5 become

$$S = \frac{1}{2\kappa_{10}^2} \int \left[e^{-2\tilde{\phi}} \left(\tilde{*} \,\tilde{R} + 4 \,\mathrm{d}\tilde{\phi} \wedge \tilde{*} \,\mathrm{d}\tilde{\phi} \right) - \frac{1}{4} \,e^{-2\tilde{\phi}} \,\boldsymbol{Q}^{(1)\,ij} \wedge \tilde{*} \,\boldsymbol{Q}^{(1)}_{ij} \right], \tag{5.38}$$

$$(\tilde{g}_{ij}) = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{G}_{\mathbf{ab}} & 0\\ 0 & \tilde{G}^{\mathbf{pq}} \end{pmatrix}, \quad e^{2\tilde{\phi}} = e^{-2\tilde{\phi}+2\eta}, \quad \beta^{ij} = \tilde{B}_{ij},$$

$$(5.39)$$

$$e^{\eta} = \left(e^{-2\phi}\sqrt{|\det G_{pq}|}\right)$$
 .

Further, under the S-duality, the transformation rule for the exotic duality given in (5.22) becomes

$$(G_{ij}, \phi, B^{(2)}) \xrightarrow{\text{exotic duality}} (\widetilde{G}_{ij}, \widetilde{\phi}, \widetilde{B}^{(2)}),$$

$$(5.40)$$

$$(\tilde{G}_{ij}) = \begin{pmatrix} G_{\mathbf{ab}} & 0\\ 0 & (E^{-1})^{\mathbf{p}i} & (E^{-1})^{\mathbf{q}j} & G_{ij} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (5.41)$$
$$\tilde{B}_{\mathbf{pq}} \equiv (E^{-1})^{\mathbf{p}i} & (E^{-1})^{\mathbf{q}j} & B_{ij}, \quad e^{-2\tilde{\phi}} \sqrt{|\det \tilde{G}_{\mathbf{pq}}|} \equiv e^{-2\phi} \sqrt{|\det G_{\mathbf{pq}}|}.$$

Substituting this relation into (5.39), we can correctly reproduce the transformation rule (3.7) between $(G_{ij}, \phi, B^{(2)})$ and $(\tilde{g}_{ij}, \tilde{\phi}, \beta^{ij})$. This gives another derivation of the action (3.10) in the case $G_{\mathbf{ap}} = B_{\mathbf{a}i} = 0$ is satisfied.

Supergravity action for the exotic string 1_4^6 . Now, let us consider applying an S-duality transformation to the action (5.12) with p = 1. By using the S-duality transformation rule,

$$\begin{aligned}
G_{ij} &\to e^{-\phi} \ G_{ij} , \quad \phi \to -\phi , \quad C^{(6)}_{i_1 \cdots i_6} \to B_{i_1 \cdots i_6} , \\
\tilde{g}_{ij} &\to e^{-\tilde{\phi}} \ \tilde{g}_{ij} , \quad \tilde{\phi} \to -\tilde{\phi} , \quad \gamma^{i_1 \cdots i_6} \to \beta^{i_1 \cdots i_6} , \quad \eta \to -\eta ,
\end{aligned} \tag{5.42}$$

the action (5.12) and the relation (5.29) with p = 1 become

$$S = \frac{1}{2\kappa_{10}^2} \int \left[e^{-2\tilde{\phi}} \left(\tilde{*}\tilde{R} + 4 \,\mathrm{d}\tilde{\phi} \wedge \tilde{*} \,\mathrm{d}\tilde{\phi} \right) - \frac{1}{2 \cdot 6!} \,e^{-6\tilde{\phi}} \,\boldsymbol{Q}^{(1)\,i_1 \cdots i_6} \wedge \tilde{*} \,\boldsymbol{Q}^{(1)}_{i_1 \cdots i_6} \right], \quad (5.43)$$

$$(\tilde{g}_{ij}) = \begin{pmatrix} e^{-4\phi+6\eta} \, \widetilde{G}_{\mathbf{ab}} & 0\\ 0 & e^{2\eta} \, \widetilde{G}^{\mathbf{pq}} \end{pmatrix}, \quad e^{2\tilde{\phi}} = e^{-2\tilde{\phi}+6\eta},$$

$$\beta^{\mathbf{s}_1\cdots\mathbf{s}_6} = \widetilde{B}^{(6)}_{\mathbf{s}_1\cdots\mathbf{s}_6}, \quad e^{\eta} = e^{-2\tilde{\phi}} \sqrt{|\det \widetilde{G}_{\mathbf{pq}}|}.$$
(5.44)

In this case, it is difficult to find a transformation rule for the exotic duality

$$(G_{ij}, \phi, B^{(6)}) \xrightarrow{\text{exotic duality}} (\widetilde{G}_{ij}, \widetilde{\phi}, \widetilde{B}^{(6)}).$$
 (5.45)

However, as a special case, if we consider the $1_4^6(3, 456789)$ background, the fields with tilde $(\tilde{G}_{ij}, \tilde{\phi}, \tilde{B}^{(6)})$ should have the same form with those in the F1(3) background. Then, from the relation (5.44), we can obtain the following solution of the theory (5.43), which corresponds to the background of the $1_4^6(3, 456789)$ -brane:

$$\frac{1_4^6}{\beta^{456789}} = \rho_2 \left(\rho_2 \left| f \right|^2 dz \, d\bar{z} + dx_{03}^2 \right) + dx_{4\dots9}^2 , \qquad e^{2\tilde{\phi}} = \rho_2 ,
\beta^{456789} = \rho_1 , \qquad \qquad \beta^{(8)}_{456789} = -\rho_2^{-1} dt \wedge dx^3 \wedge \dots \wedge dx^9 .$$
(5.46)

We can also find a Euclidean solution which corresponds to the background of an instanton that electrically couples to $\beta^{i_1 \cdots i_6}$:

$$d\tilde{s}^{2} = \rho_{2}^{-1} \left(|f|^{2} dz d\bar{z} + d\tau^{2} + dx_{n_{1}n_{2}}^{2} \right) + dx_{m_{1}\cdots m_{6}}^{2}, \qquad e^{2\tilde{\phi}} = \rho_{2}^{-1}, \qquad (5.47)$$

$$\beta_{m_{1}\cdots m_{6}}^{(8)} = -\rho_{1} d\tau \wedge dx^{3} \wedge \cdots \wedge dx^{9}, \qquad \beta^{m_{1}\cdots m_{6}} = \rho_{2}^{-1}.$$

5.4 Seven branes and instantons

In the case of p = 7, the exotic duality is the same as the S-duality:

$$\widetilde{G}_{ij} = |\tau| G_{ij}, \quad e^{2\widetilde{\phi}} = |\tau|^4 e^{2\phi}, \quad \widetilde{C}^{(0)} = -\frac{C^{(0)}}{|\tau|^2}.$$
 (5.48)

In this case, from the relation (5.29) with p = 7, we can write down an explicit relation between $(G_{ij}, \phi, C^{(0)})$ and $(\tilde{g}_{ij}, \tilde{\phi}, \gamma)$ as in the case of p = 5:

$$(\tilde{g}_{ij}) = \begin{pmatrix} |\tau|^{-2} e^{-\phi} \tilde{G}_{ab} & 0\\ 0 & e^{\eta} \tilde{G}^{pq} \end{pmatrix}, \quad e^{2\tilde{\phi}} = \frac{e^{-2\phi}}{|\tau|^4}, \quad \gamma = \tilde{C}^{(0)} = -\frac{C^{(0)}}{|\tau|^2},$$

$$e^{2\eta} = e^{-2\phi} \sqrt{|\det G_{pq}|}.$$

$$(5.49)$$

From this relation, we can obtain the expression for $\mathbf{P}^{(9)}$ in terms of the original background fields $(G_{ij}, \phi, C^{(0)})$:

$$\boldsymbol{P}^{(9)} = \mathrm{e}^{-4\tilde{\phi}} \,\,\tilde{\ast} \,\mathrm{d}\gamma = \mathrm{e}^{-4\tilde{\phi}} \,\,\frac{\sqrt{|\tilde{g}|}}{9!} \,\,\tilde{g}^{\mathbf{ab}} \,\,\partial_{\mathbf{a}}\gamma \,\epsilon_{\mathbf{b}i_1\cdots i_9} \,\mathrm{d}x^{i_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge \,\mathrm{d}x^{i_9}$$

$$= |\tau|^4 \frac{\sqrt{|\tilde{G}|}}{9!} \tilde{G}^{\mathbf{a}\mathbf{b}} \partial_{\mathbf{a}} \gamma \,\epsilon_{\mathbf{b}i_1\cdots i_9} \,\mathrm{d}x^{i_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge \mathrm{d}x^{i_9} = |\tau|^4 * \,\mathrm{d}\left(-\frac{C^{(0)}}{|\tau|^2}\right)$$
$$= -C^{(0)} \,\mathrm{d}B^{(8)} + |\tau|^2 \,\mathrm{d}C^{(8)} \,, \tag{5.50}$$

where we defined [2]

$$dB^{(8)} \equiv *d|\tau|^2 = e^{2\phi} *_E d|\tau|^2, \quad dC^{(8)} \equiv *dC^{(0)} = e^{2\phi} *_E dC^{(0)}.$$
 (5.51)

Then, the equation of motion (5.15) can be written as

$$d\mathbf{P}^{(9)} = d\left(-C^{(0)} dB^{(8)} + |\tau|^2 dC^{(8)}\right) = 0.$$
(5.52)

In fact, this equation of motion can be derived, in the original theory, as a conservation law for the Noether current associated with the SL(2) symmetry [47]. Conversely, in the theory (5.12), the equation of motion, $dF^{(9)} = d^2C^{(8)} = 0$, of the original theory will appear as a conservation law for the Noether current.

As it was shown in [2], the dual potential $\gamma^{(8)}$ (or $\tilde{C}^{(8)}$ given in [2]) is the field that electrically couples to an NS7-brane. This can also be understood from the fact that a D7brane couples to $C^{(8)}$ and the 8-forms transform under an S-duality (or the exotic duality) as follows [2]:

 $C^{(8)} \to -\gamma^{(8)}, \quad \gamma^{(8)} \to -C^{(8)}, \quad B^{(8)} \to -B^{(8)}.$ (5.53)

Further, as it is well-known, a D-instanton, or a D(-1)-brane, electrically couples to the Ramond-Ramond 0-form, $C^{(0)}$. The "mass," i.e., the on-shell value of the Euclidean action is calculated in [48] and is proportional to g_s^{-1} , like the tension of the D*p*-branes. If we perform an S-duality, the D-instanton is mapped to another instanton which couples to the field $\gamma = \tilde{C}^{(0)}$ and will have the "mass" proportional to g_s , since the S-duality maps $g_s \to 1/g_s$. Indeed, in the Einstein frame, the action for γ becomes

$$S = \frac{1}{2\kappa_{10}^2} \int \sqrt{|\tilde{g}_{\rm E}|} \left(\tilde{*}_{\rm E}\tilde{R}_{\rm E} - \frac{1}{2} \,\mathrm{d}\tilde{\phi} \wedge *_{\rm E}\mathrm{d}\tilde{\phi} - \frac{1}{2} \,\mathrm{e}^{-2\tilde{\phi}} \,\mathrm{d}\gamma \wedge *_{\rm E}\mathrm{d}\gamma \right), \tag{5.54}$$

and using the result (6.6) of [49], we can find that the value of the on-shell action is proportional to g_s . In the following, we will denote the instanton by \mathbf{I}_1 . Note that this instanton is a special case of the (p,q)-instanton, which is a member of the *Q*-instantons discovered in [50]. By performing *T*-dualities in the $x^{\mathbf{p}}$ -directions, γ will be mapped to a (7-p)-vector $\gamma^{i_1\cdots i_{7-p}}$, and we will obtain an instanton, to be called \mathbf{I}_1^{7-p} , which electrically couples to $\gamma^{i_1\cdots i_{7-p}}$. Recalling the transformation rule for the fundamental constants under the action of *T*-duality, $g_s \to g_s(l_s/R_{i_n})$ and $l_s \to l_s$, we expect that the "mass" of \mathbf{I}_1^{7-p} will be proportional to $g_s(l_s^{7-p}/R_{\mathbf{p}_1}\cdots R_{\mathbf{p}_{7-p}})$ (see section 7 of [5] for a discussion on the existence of such objects). The family of instantons, \mathbf{I}_1^{7-p} , can be thought of as generalizations of the pp-wave (whose mass is proportional to (l_s/R_i)), much like the exotic branes can be thought of as generalizations of the Kaluza-Klein monopole. The instanton \mathbf{I}_1^{7-p} can exist only when there are (7-p) compact isometry directions. Since it is the electric source of $\mathbf{P}^{(1)i_1\cdots i_{7-p}}$, the corresponding background should be given by (5.17). Further, in the type IIB theory, by performing an S-duality, the background fields γ^{ij} and $\gamma^{i_1\cdots i_6}$ are transformed into β^{ij} and $\beta^{i_1\cdots i_6}$. At the same time, the instantons \mathbf{I}_1^2 and \mathbf{I}_1^6 will be mapped to other instantons, to be called \mathbf{I}_0^2 and \mathbf{I}_2^6 , whose "mass" will be proportional to $(l_s^2/R_{\mathbf{p}_1}R_{\mathbf{p}_2})$ and $g_s^2(l_s^6/R_{\mathbf{p}_1}\cdots R_{\mathbf{p}_6})$, respectively. These instantons are also predicted in [5]. The corresponding background solutions will be given by (3.26) and (5.47).

5.5 The mixed-symmetry tensors

So far, we argued that the mixed-symmetry tensors $\beta_{ij}^{(8)}$, $\beta_{i_1\cdots i_6}^{(8)}$, and $\gamma_{i_1\cdots i_{7-p}}^{(8)}$ electrically couple to exotic branes. Here, we provide expressions for these mixed-symmetry tensors in terms of the original background fields, like the relation (5.50).

For convenience, we denote the form fields $B^{(2)}$, $B^{(6)}$, and $C^{(7-p)}$ collectively as $A^{(7-p)}$, and the mixed-symmetry tensors as $\mathcal{A}^{i_1\cdots i_{7-p}}$ and $\mathcal{A}^{(8)}_{i_1\cdots i_{7-p}}$. We again use the following tilde notation for the background fields which are related by the exotic duality:

$$(G_{ij}, \phi, \mathsf{A}^{(7-p)}) \xrightarrow{\text{exotic duality}} (\widetilde{G}_{ij}, \widetilde{\phi}, \widetilde{\mathsf{A}}^{(7-p)}).$$
 (5.55)

In the following, we derive an expression for the mixed tensor $\mathcal{A}_{i_1\cdots i_{7-p}}^{(8)}$ in terms of the background fields on the right-hand sides; $(\widetilde{G}_{ij}, \widetilde{\phi}, \widetilde{A}^{(7-p)})$.

We define the dual potential $A^{(p+1)}$ by

$$d\widetilde{\mathsf{A}}^{(p+1)} \equiv s_p \ \mathrm{e}^{2\,(\alpha_s+1)\,\widetilde{\phi}} \ \widetilde{\ast} \, \mathrm{d}\widetilde{\mathsf{A}}^{(7-p)} \,, \tag{5.56}$$

where $s_p \equiv (-1)^{\frac{(p+2)(p+1)}{2} + \alpha_s + 1}$ and $\alpha_s = \{-1, -2, 0\}$ for $\widetilde{\mathsf{A}}^{(p+1)} = \{\widetilde{C}^{(p+1)}, \widetilde{B}^{(2)}, \widetilde{B}^{(6)}\},\$ and $\tilde{*}$ is the Hodge star operator associated with \widetilde{G}_{ij} . Then, using the identification $\mathcal{A}^{i_1 \cdots i_{7-p}} \equiv \{\gamma^{i_1 \cdots i_{7-p}}, \beta^{i_1 i_2}, \beta^{i_1 \cdots i_6}\} = \widetilde{\mathsf{A}}^{(7-p)}_{i_1 \cdots i_{7-p}}$ and the definition

$$d\mathcal{A}_{i_{1}\cdots i_{7-p}}^{(8)} \equiv e^{2(\alpha+1)\tilde{\phi}} \,\tilde{g}_{i_{1}j_{1}}\cdots\tilde{g}_{i_{7-p}j_{7-p}}\,\tilde{*}\,d\mathcal{A}^{j_{1}\cdots j_{7-p}} \quad (\alpha \equiv -\alpha_{s}-4)\,, \tag{5.57}$$

we obtain

$$\partial_{\mathbf{a}} \widetilde{\mathsf{A}}_{\mathbf{s}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{s}_{p+1}}^{(p+1)} = s_{p} \, \mathrm{e}^{2\,(\alpha_{s}+1)\,\widetilde{\phi}} \, \frac{\sqrt{|\widetilde{G}|}}{(7-p)!} \, \widetilde{G}^{\mathbf{cb}} \, \widetilde{G}^{\mathbf{q}_{1}\mathbf{r}_{1}} \cdots \widetilde{G}^{\mathbf{q}_{7-p}\mathbf{r}_{7-p}} \, \epsilon_{\mathbf{cq}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{q}_{7-p}\mathbf{as}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{s}_{p+1}} \, \partial_{\mathbf{b}} \widetilde{\mathsf{A}}_{\mathbf{r}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{r}_{7-p}}^{(7-p)}$$

$$= s_{p} \, \mathrm{e}^{2\,(\alpha+1)\,\widetilde{\phi}} \, \frac{\sqrt{|\widetilde{g}|}}{(7-p)!} \, \widetilde{g}^{\mathbf{cb}} \, \widetilde{g}_{\mathbf{q}_{1}\mathbf{r}_{1}} \cdots \widetilde{g}_{\mathbf{q}_{7-p}\mathbf{r}_{7-p}} \, \epsilon_{\mathbf{cq}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{q}_{7-p}\mathbf{as}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{s}_{p+1}} \, \partial_{\mathbf{b}} \mathcal{A}^{\mathbf{r}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{r}_{7-p}}$$

$$= s_{p} \, (-1)^{(p+2)(7-p)} \, \partial_{\mathbf{a}} \mathcal{A}_{\mathbf{s}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{s}_{p+1}\mathbf{q}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{q}_{7-p}, \mathbf{q}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{q}_{7-p}}, \qquad (5.58)$$

where the summation over the indices \mathbf{q}_n is assumed in the second line but not in the third line, and we used

$$\widetilde{G}_{\mathbf{ab}} \propto \widetilde{g}_{\mathbf{ab}} , \quad \widetilde{G}^{\mathbf{pq}} = \mathrm{e}^{-(\alpha+2)\eta} \ \widetilde{g}_{\mathbf{pq}} , \quad \mathrm{e}^{\eta} = \left(\mathrm{e}^{-2\widetilde{\phi}} \sqrt{|\mathrm{det} \ \widetilde{G}_{\mathbf{pq}}|} \right)^{\frac{2}{p-3-4(\alpha+3)}} , \qquad (5.59)$$

in the second equality. Namely, we obtain

$$\partial_{\mathbf{a}} \mathcal{A}_{\mathbf{s}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{s}_{p+1}\mathbf{q}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{q}_{7-p},\mathbf{q}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{q}_{7-p}}^{(8)} = s_{p} (-1)^{(p+2)(7-p)} \partial_{\mathbf{a}} \mathcal{A}_{\mathbf{s}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{s}_{p+1}}^{(p+1)} = (-1)^{(p+2)(7-p)} \frac{\mathrm{e}^{-2(\alpha+3)\tilde{\phi}}}{(7-p)!} \varepsilon^{\mathbf{br}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{r}_{7-p}}{}_{\mathbf{as}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{s}_{p+1}} \partial_{\mathbf{b}} \mathcal{A}_{\mathbf{r}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{r}_{7-p}}^{(7-p)} \quad \left(\varepsilon_{i_{0}\cdots i_{9}} \equiv \sqrt{|\tilde{g}|} \,\epsilon_{i_{0}\cdots i_{9}}\right),$$
(5.60)

$\mathcal{A}^{i_1 \cdots i_{7-p}}$	eta^{ij}	$\gamma^{i_1 \cdots i_{7-p}}$	$\beta^{i_1 \cdots i_6}$
$\mathcal{Q}^{(1)i_1\cdots i_{7-p}}$	$oldsymbol{Q}^{(1)ij}$	$P^{(1)i_1\cdots i_{7-p}}$	$oldsymbol{Q}^{(1)i_1\cdots i_6}$
α	-2	-3	-4
magnetic source $(p_{-\alpha}^{7-p})$	5^{2}_{2}	p_3^{7-p}	1_{4}^{6}
$\tilde{\alpha} \equiv -\alpha - 2$	0	1	2
electric source $(\mathbf{I}_{\tilde{\alpha}}^{7-p})$	\mathbf{I}_0^2	\mathbf{I}_1^{7-p}	\mathbf{I}_2^6

Table 2. A list of non-geometric fluxes and their magnetic/electric sources.

which reproduces the proposed relations (30)–(32) of [5]. If we further use the relation between $(G_{ij}, \phi, \mathsf{A}^{(7-p)})$ and $(\tilde{G}_{ij}, \tilde{\phi}, \tilde{\mathsf{A}}^{(7-p)})$, we can also obtain the relation between $\iota \mathcal{A}_{\mathbf{q}_1\cdots\mathbf{q}_{7-p}}^{(8)}$ and $(G_{ij}, \phi, \mathsf{A}^{(7-p)})$.

5.6 Summary of the results

In this section, we have presented various actions with the following form:

$$S[\tilde{g}_{ij}, \tilde{\phi}, \mathcal{A}^{i_1 \cdots i_{7-p}}] = \frac{1}{2\kappa_{10}^2} \int \left[e^{-2\phi} \left(\tilde{*} \tilde{R} + 4 \, \mathrm{d}\phi \wedge \tilde{*} \, \mathrm{d}\phi \right) - \frac{e^{2(\alpha+1)}\tilde{\phi}}{2(7-p)!} \tilde{g}_{i_1j_1} \cdots \tilde{g}_{i_{7-p}j_{7-p}} \mathcal{Q}^{(1)\,i_1 \cdots i_{7-p}} \wedge \tilde{*} \mathcal{Q}^{(1)\,j_1 \cdots j_{7-p}} \right], \quad (5.61)$$

where $\mathcal{Q}^{(1) i_1 \cdots i_{7-p}} \equiv d\mathcal{A}^{i_1 \cdots i_{7-p}}$ is a non-geometric flux of which an exotic brane acts as the magnetic source, and α is an integer given in table 2. The equations of motion are given by

$$\tilde{R} + 4\left(\tilde{\nabla}^{i}\partial_{i}\tilde{\phi} - \tilde{g}^{ij}\partial_{i}\tilde{\phi}\partial_{j}\tilde{\phi}\right) + \frac{(\alpha+1) e^{2(\alpha+2)\phi}}{2(7-p)!} \mathcal{Q}_{i}^{j_{1}\cdots j_{7-p}} \mathcal{Q}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{7-p}}^{i} = 0, \qquad (5.62)$$

$$\tilde{R}_{ij} + 2\tilde{\nabla}_i \partial_j \tilde{\phi} - \frac{e^{2(\alpha+2)\phi}}{2(7-p)!} \left(\mathcal{Q}_i^{k_1 \cdots k_{7-p}} \mathcal{Q}_{jk_1 \cdots k_{7-p}} - (7-p) \mathcal{Q}_{k_1}^{k_2 \cdots k_{7-p}} \mathcal{Q}_{jk_2 \cdots k_{7-p}}^{k_1} - \frac{\alpha+2}{2} \mathcal{Q}_k^{l_1 \cdots l_{7-p}} \mathcal{Q}_{l_1 \cdots l_{7-p}}^{k} \tilde{g}_{ij} \right) = 0, \qquad (5.63)$$

$$d\mathcal{Q}_{i_1\cdots i_{7-p}}^{(9)} = 0, \quad \mathcal{Q}_{i_1\cdots i_{7-p}}^{(9)} \equiv e^{2(\alpha+1)\tilde{\phi}} \,\tilde{g}_{i_1j_1}\cdots \tilde{g}_{i_{7-p}j_{7-p}} \,\tilde{*}\,\mathcal{Q}^{(1)\,j_1\cdots j_{7-p}} \equiv d\mathcal{A}_{i_1\cdots i_{7-p}}^{(8)}. \tag{5.64}$$

If we regard the dual potential $\mathcal{A}_{i_1\cdots i_{7-p}}^{(8)}$ as a fundamental field, the dual action is given by

$$S[\tilde{g}_{ij}, \,\tilde{\phi}, \,\mathcal{A}^{(8)}_{i_1 \cdots i_{7-p}}] = \frac{1}{2\kappa_{10}^2} \int \left[e^{-2\phi} \left(\tilde{*} \,\tilde{R} + 4 \,\mathrm{d}\phi \wedge \tilde{*} \,\mathrm{d}\phi \right) - \frac{e^{2\left(\tilde{\alpha}+1\right)\tilde{\phi}}}{2\left(7-p\right)!} \,\tilde{g}^{i_1 j_1} \cdots \tilde{g}^{i_{7-p} j_{7-p}} \,\mathrm{d}\mathcal{A}^{(8)}_{i_1 \cdots i_{7-p}} \wedge \tilde{*} \,\mathrm{d}\mathcal{A}^{(8)}_{j_1 \cdots j_{7-p}} \right],$$
(5.65)

where we defined $\tilde{\alpha} \equiv -\alpha - 2$. We can add the Wess-Zumino term of the exotic $p_{-\alpha}^{7-p}$ -brane extending in the $x^{\mathbf{r}_1}, \cdots, x^{\mathbf{r}_p}$ -directions and smeared over the $x^{\mathbf{s}_1}, \cdots, x^{\mathbf{s}_{7-p}}$ -directions:

$$S_{\rm WZ} = -\mu_{p_{-\alpha}^{7-p}} \sum_{\mathbf{s}_1, \cdots, \mathbf{s}_{7-p}} \int_{\mathcal{M}_{p+1} \times T_{\mathbf{s}_1 \cdots \mathbf{s}_{7-p}}^{7-p}} \frac{n^{\mathbf{s}_1 \cdots \mathbf{s}_{7-p}}}{(7-p)!} \,\iota \mathcal{A}_{\mathbf{s}_1 \cdots \mathbf{s}_{7-p}}^{(8)} \wedge \frac{\mathrm{d}x^{\mathbf{s}_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge \mathrm{d}x^{\mathbf{s}_{7-p}}}{(2\pi R_{\mathbf{s}_1}) \cdots (2\pi R_{\mathbf{s}_{7-p}})}$$

$$= -\mu_{p_{-\alpha}^{7-p}} \int \frac{1}{(7-p)!} \mathcal{A}_{\mathbf{s}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{s}_{7-p}}^{(8)} \wedge \boldsymbol{\delta}^{\mathbf{s}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{s}_{7-p}}(x-X(\xi)).$$
(5.66)

Then, taking variation, we obtain the following Bianchi identity as the equation of motion:

$$d^{2}\mathcal{A}^{\mathbf{s}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{s}_{7-p}} = 2\kappa_{10}^{2}\,\mu_{p_{-\alpha}^{7-p}}\,\frac{n^{\mathbf{s}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{s}_{7-p}}}{(2\pi R_{\mathbf{s}_{1}})\cdots(2\pi R_{\mathbf{s}_{7-p}})}\,\delta^{2}(x-X(\xi))\,dx^{1}\wedge dx^{2}\,.$$
(5.67)

If we choose $n^{\mathbf{s}_1\cdots\mathbf{s}_{7-p}} = 1$ and integrate the equation, we obtain

$$\sigma = \int d^2 \mathcal{A}^{\mathbf{s}_1 \cdots \mathbf{s}_{7-p}} = \frac{2\kappa_{10}^2 \,\mu_{p_{-\alpha}^{7-p}}}{(2\pi R_{\mathbf{s}_1}) \cdots (2\pi R_{\mathbf{s}_{7-p}})}, \qquad (5.68)$$

where we used $\mathcal{A}^{\mathbf{s}_1\cdots\mathbf{s}_{7-p}} = \rho_1$. From this relation and the value of σ given in table 1, we can confirm that $\mu_{p_{-\alpha}^{7-p}}$ is indeed equal to the tension of the exotic brane:

$$\mu_{p_{-\alpha}^{7-p}} = \frac{\sigma \left(2\pi R_{\mathbf{s}_1}\right) \cdots \left(2\pi R_{\mathbf{s}_{7-p}}\right)}{(2\pi l_s)^7 \, l_s \, g_s^2} = \frac{M_{p_{-\alpha}^{7-p}}}{(2\pi R_{\mathbf{r}_1}) \cdots \left(2\pi R_{\mathbf{r}_{p+1}}\right)},\tag{5.69}$$

where we used $2\kappa_{10}^2 = (2\pi l_s)^7 \, l_s \, g_s^2$.

6 Summary and discussions

In this paper, we have presented (truncated) effective actions for various polyvectors whose magnetic sources can be identified with the exotic branes. Requiring the existence of compact isometry directions, which are required for the existence of exotic branes, we showed that the effective actions can be derived from the standard (truncated) supergravity actions. In each theory, we found two solutions with either the magnetic or the electric charge associated with the non-geometric flux. The former solution corresponds to an exotic-brane background while the latter corresponds to a new instanton background. By taking account of the U-duality symmetry of the string theory, all defect branes including the standard branes and exotic branes should be treated as equals. However, in the standard formulation of the supergravity, only the backgrounds of the standard branes are well described globally. Contrarily, in the reformulation of supergravity presented in this paper, the background fields of the exotic branes are globally defined while those of the standard branes are not single-valued. In this sense, the effective theory considered in this paper is complementary to the standard supergravity.

Our reformulation is still not complete and we should investigate a further generalization so as to allow for general backgrounds with multiple non-geometric fluxes. Such generalization is necessary if we consider, for example, the background representing a bound state of p 5²₂-branes and q 5²₃-branes, which is the exotic dual of the (p,q) five-brane (i.e., a bound state of p NS5-branes and q D5-branes). In addition, there is another direction of generalization. The action (5.61) presented in this paper can be applied only for defect backgrounds with isometries in the $03 \cdots 9$ -directions. In the absence of these isometries, the action should be modified, like the action of the β -supergravity (3.8) or its Ramond-Ramond counterpart (4.10). Since the equations of motion derived from the simple action (5.61) do not coincide with those derived from the complete action (i.e., the action (3.8) or (4.10)) even though we impose the assumptions (5.1),¹⁰ it will be important to find the complete actions for any value of p and check whether the exotic-brane backgrounds indeed satisfy the equations of motion derived from the complete actions.¹¹ It will be also interesting to describe various non-geometric backgrounds with less isometries, such as the background of the "NS5-brane localized in winding space" constructed in [51] (see also the references therein), as solutions of the complete theory without simplifying assumptions.

Further, it will be important to establish a formulation in which the background of an arbitrary defect brane can be equally described globally; that is, a manifestly U-duality covariant formulation of the supergravity theory. A promising approach in this direction is taken in DFT, which can globally describe both the usual brane (i.e. NS5-brane) and the exotic brane (i.e. 5_2^2 -brane), and can reproduce the standard supergravity action or the β -supergravity action as a special limit. Although DFT has already been generalized to incorporate the Ramond-Ramond fields [35, 42, 44], we cannot globally describe U-folds (such as the Dp_{7-p} background) in the framework of DFT, since the gauge symmetry of DFT does not include general U-dual transformations. Recently, several generalizations of DFT have been studied in various papers (see e.g. [52–60], and [61–68] where the exceptional field theory has been proposed and studied), which will be possible to describe all exotic-brane backgrounds globally. It will be interesting to derive the effective theories proposed in this paper as some special limits of these theories.

It will be also important to investigate a reformulation of the effective worldvolume theory of exotic branes by using the newly introduced background fields $(\tilde{g}_{ij}, \tilde{\phi}, \mathcal{A}^{i_1 \cdots i_{7-p}})$. More generally, it will be important to find a manifestly *U*-duality covariant formulation for the effective worldvolume theory of exotic branes.

In our reformulation of the supergravity where a *p*-vector is regarded as a fundamental field, there naturally appears the background of an instanton that electrically couples to a *p*-vector. Depending on the type of the *p*-vector (i.e. β^{ij} , $\gamma^{i_1\cdots i_{7-p}}$, or $\beta^{i_1\cdots i_6}$), the value of the on-shell action for the instanton background is expected to be proportional to $g_s^{\tilde{\alpha}}$ with $\tilde{\alpha} = 0, 1, 2$. Since these instantons have not been studied well, it will be important to analyze their properties further. Since the \mathbf{I}_1^{7-p} backgrounds (5.17) are similar to the backgrounds of the D*p*-instantons (see [29] and references therein), it will be natural to expect that the instantons \mathbf{I}_1^{7-p} are the exotic dual of the D*p*-instantons, and \mathbf{I}_0^2 and \mathbf{I}_2^6 are their *S*-dual objects.

¹⁰We would like to thank David Andriot for pointing out this issue. In the case of the β -supergravity, if we assume that any derivative ∂_i contracted with β^{ij} vanishes, the dilaton equation of motion and the Einstein equations (see (1.28) and (1.29) of [20]) coincide with those derived from the simple action (3.8) (note that $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}^{ij} = (1/4) \left(Q^{ikl} Q^j{}_{kl} - 2 Q^{kil} Q_k{}^j{}_l \right)$ and $\tilde{\mathcal{R}} = -(1/4) Q^{ijk} Q_{ijk}$ can be shown by using the simplifying assumption). However, the equation of motion for the β -field (see (1.30) of [20]) does not coincide with (3.11), although the difference disappears in the 5^2_2 background.

¹¹In the case of the 5_2^2 -brane (or the *Q*-brane), the background is shown to satisfy the equations of motion derived from the complete action (see appendix D.1 of [14]).

Acknowledgments

We acknowledge support by the National Research Foundation of Korea (NRF-MSIP) grants 2005-0093843, 2010-220-C00003 and 2012-K2A1A9055280. We would like to thank Yolanda Lozano and Soo-Jong Rey for helpful discussions.

A Field redefinitions and a derivation of the action

In this appendix, we show that the action (5.10) can be rewritten as (5.12) under the assumption (5.1). Let us recall that, under a rescaling of the metric $\mathbf{g}_{ij} = \mathbf{e}^{\sigma} G_{ij}$ in a *d*-dimensional space, the Ricci scalar transforms as

$$R = e^{\sigma} \left\{ \mathsf{R} + (d-1) \,\mathsf{g}^{ij} \,\bar{\nabla}_i \partial_j \sigma - \left[(d-1)(d-2)/4 \right] \,\mathsf{g}^{ij} \,\partial_i \sigma \,\partial_j \sigma \right\},\tag{A.1}$$

where $\overline{\nabla}_i$ and R are the covariant derivative and the Ricci scalar associated with the new metric g_{ij} . Using the formula, we can rewrite the action (5.10)

$$2\kappa_{10}^{2} S_{p} = \int \left[e^{-2\phi} \left(*R + 4 \,\mathrm{d}\phi \wedge * \,\mathrm{d}\phi \right) - \frac{\Delta^{-1}}{2 \left(7 - p\right)!} G_{\mathbf{r}_{1}\mathbf{s}_{1}} \cdots G_{\mathbf{r}_{7-p}\mathbf{s}_{7-p}} \,\mathrm{d}\gamma^{\mathbf{r}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{r}_{7-p}} \wedge * \,\mathrm{d}\gamma^{\mathbf{s}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{s}_{7-p}} \right], \tag{A.2}$$

into the following form:

$$2\kappa_{10}^{2} S_{p} = \int d^{10}x \sqrt{|\mathbf{g}|} e^{-2\phi - 4\sigma} \left(R + 4 \mathbf{g}^{ij} \partial_{i}\phi \partial_{j}\phi + 9 \mathbf{g}^{ij} \bar{\nabla}_{i}\partial_{j}\sigma - 18 \mathbf{g}^{ij} \partial_{i}\sigma \partial_{j}\sigma \right) - \int \frac{d^{10}x \sqrt{|\mathbf{g}|}}{2(7-p)!} e^{-2\varphi} \mathbf{g}^{\mathbf{ab}} \mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{r}_{1}\mathbf{s}_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{r}_{7-p}\mathbf{s}_{7-p}} \partial_{\mathbf{a}}\gamma^{\mathbf{r}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{r}_{7-p}} \partial_{\mathbf{b}}\gamma^{\mathbf{s}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{s}_{7-p}},$$
(A.3)

where φ is defined by $e^{\varphi} \equiv e^{\frac{11-p}{2}\sigma} \Delta^{1/2}$. In order to reduce the redundancy, let us consider the Einstein frame, $\phi = -2\sigma$, where the action takes the following form:

$$2\kappa_{10}^{2} S_{p} = \int d^{10}x \sqrt{|\mathbf{g}|} \left(\mathsf{R} - 2 \, \mathsf{g}^{\mathbf{a}\mathbf{b}} \, \partial_{\mathbf{a}}\sigma \, \partial_{\mathbf{b}}\sigma \right) - \int \frac{d^{10}x \sqrt{|\mathbf{g}|}}{2 \, (7-p)!} \, \mathrm{e}^{-2\varphi} \, \mathbf{g}^{\mathbf{a}\mathbf{b}} \, \mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{r}_{1}\mathbf{s}_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{r}_{7-p}\mathbf{s}_{7-p}} \, \partial_{\mathbf{a}}\gamma^{\mathbf{r}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{r}_{7-p}} \, \partial_{\mathbf{b}}\gamma^{\mathbf{s}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{s}_{7-p}} \,, \tag{A.4}$$

where the boundary term is dropped. Here, note that, under the ansatz (5.1), the Ricci scalar R can be decomposed as

$$\mathsf{R} = \mathsf{R}^{(2)} + \frac{1}{4} \, \mathsf{g}^{\mathbf{ab}} \, \partial_{\mathbf{a}} \mathsf{g}_{\mathbf{pq}} \, \partial_{\mathbf{b}} \mathsf{g}^{\mathbf{pq}} \,, \tag{A.5}$$

where $\mathsf{R}^{(2)}$ is the two-dimensional Ricci scalar associated with the metric $\mathsf{g}_{\mathbf{ab}}$.

Now, we make a further redefinition of the metric

$$\tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{\mathbf{a}\mathbf{b}} = \mathbf{e}^{\sigma} \, \mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{a}\mathbf{b}} \,, \quad \tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{\mathbf{p}\mathbf{q}} = \mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{p}\mathbf{q}} \,, \tag{A.6}$$

where $\tilde{\sigma}$ is a function to be specified below. Then, the formula (A.1) gives

$$\mathsf{R}^{(2)} = \mathrm{e}^{\tilde{\sigma}} \left(\tilde{\mathsf{R}}^{(2)} + \tilde{\mathsf{g}}^{\mathbf{ab}} \, \tilde{\nabla}^{(2)}_{\mathbf{a}} \partial_{\mathbf{b}} \tilde{\sigma} \right), \tag{A.7}$$

where $\tilde{\nabla}_{\mathbf{a}}^{(2)}$ and $\tilde{\mathsf{R}}^{(2)}$ are the covariant derivative and the Ricci scalar associated with the two-dimensional metric $\tilde{\mathsf{g}}_{\mathbf{ab}}$. That is, two Ricci scalars R and $\tilde{\mathsf{R}}$ (that is associated with the metric $\tilde{\mathsf{g}}_{ij}$) are related to each other through

$$\mathsf{R} = \mathrm{e}^{\tilde{\sigma}} \left(\tilde{\mathsf{R}} + \tilde{\mathsf{g}}^{\mathbf{a}\mathbf{b}} \, \tilde{\nabla}_{\mathbf{a}}^{(2)} \, \partial_{\mathbf{b}} \tilde{\sigma} \right). \tag{A.8}$$

Using this relation, we can rewrite the action (A.4) as

$$2\kappa_{10}^{2} S_{p} = \int d^{10}x \sqrt{|\tilde{\mathbf{g}}|} \left(\tilde{\mathbf{R}} + \tilde{\mathbf{g}}^{\mathbf{ab}} \tilde{\nabla}_{\mathbf{a}}^{(2)} \partial_{\mathbf{b}} \tilde{\sigma} - 2 \,\tilde{\mathbf{g}}^{\mathbf{ab}} \partial_{\mathbf{a}} \sigma \,\partial_{\mathbf{b}} \sigma\right) - \int \frac{d^{10}x \sqrt{|\tilde{\mathbf{g}}|}}{2 \, (7 - p)!} e^{-2\varphi} \,\tilde{\mathbf{g}}^{\mathbf{ab}} \,\tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{\mathbf{r}_{1}\mathbf{s}_{1}} \cdots \tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{\mathbf{r}_{7-p}\mathbf{s}_{7-p}} \,\partial_{\mathbf{a}} \gamma^{\mathbf{r}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{r}_{7-p}} \,\partial_{\mathbf{b}} \gamma^{\mathbf{s}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{s}_{7-p}} = \int d^{10}x \sqrt{|\tilde{\mathbf{g}}|} \left(\tilde{\mathbf{R}} - \tilde{\mathbf{g}}^{\mathbf{ab}} \,\partial_{\mathbf{a}} \left(\ln\sqrt{|\det \tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{\mathbf{pq}}|}\right) \partial_{\mathbf{b}} \tilde{\sigma} - 2 \,\tilde{\mathbf{g}}^{\mathbf{ab}} \,\partial_{\mathbf{a}} \sigma \,\partial_{\mathbf{b}} \sigma\right) - \int \frac{d^{10}x \sqrt{|\tilde{\mathbf{g}}|}}{2 \, (7 - p)!} e^{-2\varphi} \,\tilde{\mathbf{g}}^{\mathbf{ab}} \,\tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{\mathbf{r}_{1}\mathbf{s}_{1}} \cdots \tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{\mathbf{r}_{7-p}\mathbf{s}_{7-p}} \,\partial_{\mathbf{a}} \gamma^{\mathbf{r}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{r}_{7-p}} \,\partial_{\mathbf{b}} \gamma^{\mathbf{s}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{s}_{7-p}} = \int d^{10}x \sqrt{|\tilde{\mathbf{g}}|} \left[\tilde{\mathbf{R}} - \tilde{\mathbf{g}}^{\mathbf{ab}} \,\partial_{\mathbf{a}} \left(\varphi + \frac{p - 3}{2} \,\sigma\right) \partial_{\mathbf{b}} \tilde{\sigma} - 2 \,\tilde{\mathbf{g}}^{\mathbf{ab}} \,\partial_{\mathbf{a}} \sigma \,\partial_{\mathbf{b}} \sigma\right] - \int \frac{d^{10}x \sqrt{|\tilde{\mathbf{g}}|}}{2 \, (7 - p)!} e^{-2\varphi} \,\tilde{\mathbf{g}}^{\mathbf{ab}} \,\tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{\mathbf{r}_{1}\mathbf{s}_{1}} \cdots \tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{\mathbf{r}_{7-p}\mathbf{s}_{7-p}} \,\partial_{\mathbf{a}} \gamma^{\mathbf{r}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{r}_{7-p}} \,\partial_{\mathbf{b}} \gamma^{\mathbf{s}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{s}_{7-p}} \,, \qquad (A.9)$$

where we dropped a boundary term in the second equality and used $\sqrt{|\det \tilde{g}_{pq}|} = e^{4\sigma} \Delta^{1/2} = e^{\varphi + \frac{p-3}{2}\sigma}$ in the third equality.

If we choose the function $\tilde{\sigma}$ as

$$\tilde{\sigma} = \frac{8}{(p-3)^2} \,\varphi - \frac{4}{p-3} \,\sigma \,, \tag{A.10}$$

the action becomes

$$2\kappa_{10}^{2} S_{p} = \int d^{10}x \sqrt{|\tilde{\mathbf{g}}|} \left(\tilde{\mathsf{R}} - \frac{8}{(p-3)^{2}} \,\tilde{\mathbf{g}}^{\mathbf{ab}} \,\partial_{\mathbf{a}}\varphi \,\partial_{\mathbf{b}}\varphi \right) - \int \frac{d^{10}x \sqrt{|\tilde{\mathbf{g}}|}}{2(7-p)!} \,\mathrm{e}^{-2\varphi} \,\tilde{\mathbf{g}}^{\mathbf{ab}} \,\tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{\mathbf{r}_{1}\mathbf{s}_{1}} \cdots \tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{\mathbf{r}_{7-p}\mathbf{s}_{7-p}} \,\partial_{\mathbf{a}}\gamma^{\mathbf{r}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{r}_{7-p}} \,\partial_{\mathbf{b}}\gamma^{\mathbf{s}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{s}_{7-p}} = \int d^{10}x \sqrt{|\tilde{\mathbf{g}}|} \left(\tilde{\mathsf{R}} - \frac{1}{2} \,\tilde{\mathbf{g}}^{\mathbf{ab}} \,\partial_{\mathbf{a}}\tilde{\phi} \,\partial_{\mathbf{b}}\tilde{\phi} \right) - \int \frac{d^{10}x \sqrt{|\tilde{\mathbf{g}}|}}{2(7-p)!} \,\mathrm{e}^{-\frac{p-3}{2}\tilde{\phi}} \,\tilde{\mathbf{g}}^{\mathbf{ab}} \,\tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{\mathbf{r}_{1}\mathbf{s}_{1}} \cdots \tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{\mathbf{r}_{7-p}\mathbf{s}_{7-p}} \,\partial_{\mathbf{a}}\gamma^{\mathbf{r}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{r}_{7-p}} \,\partial_{\mathbf{b}}\gamma^{\mathbf{s}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{s}_{7-p}} \,, \quad (A.11)$$

where we rescaled the dilaton; $\tilde{\phi} \equiv 4\varphi/(p-3)$. Finally, defining the string-frame metric by $\tilde{g}_{ij} \equiv e^{\tilde{\phi}/2} \tilde{g}_{ij}$, we obtain the action

$$2\kappa_{10}^2 S_p = \int d^{10}x \sqrt{-\tilde{g}} e^{-2\tilde{\phi}} \left(\tilde{R} + 4\,\tilde{g}^{\mathbf{ab}}\,\partial_{\mathbf{a}}\tilde{\phi}\,\partial_{\mathbf{b}}\tilde{\phi}\right) -\int \frac{d^{10}x \sqrt{-\tilde{g}}}{2\,(7-p)!} e^{-4\tilde{\phi}}\,\tilde{g}^{\mathbf{ab}}\,\tilde{g}_{\mathbf{r}_1\mathbf{s}_1}\cdots\tilde{g}_{\mathbf{r}_{7-p}\mathbf{s}_{7-p}}\,\partial_{\mathbf{a}}\gamma^{\mathbf{r}_1\cdots\mathbf{r}_{7-p}}\,\partial_{\mathbf{b}}\gamma^{\mathbf{s}_1\cdots\mathbf{s}_{7-p}}\,,$$
(A.12)

which coincides with (5.12) by allowing the bold indices to run over all spacetime directions. To summarize, we derived the action with the following redefinitions:

$$(\tilde{g}_{ij}) = \begin{pmatrix} e^{\frac{4}{p-3}\phi} e^{\frac{p+1}{p-3}\eta} G_{\mathbf{ab}} & 0\\ 0 & e^{\eta} G_{\mathbf{pq}} \end{pmatrix}, \quad e^{2\tilde{\phi}} \equiv e^{2\phi+4\eta}, \quad e^{\eta} \equiv \left(e^{-2\phi} \Delta^{1/2}\right)^{\frac{2}{p-3}}.$$
 (A.13)

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- N.A. Obers and B. Pioline, U duality and M-theory, Phys. Rept. 318 (1999) 113 [hep-th/9809039] [INSPIRE].
- [2] E. Eyras and Y. Lozano, Exotic branes and nonperturbative seven-branes, Nucl. Phys. B 573 (2000) 735 [hep-th/9908094] [INSPIRE].
- [3] E. Lozano-Tellechea and T. Ortín, 7-branes and higher Kaluza-Klein branes, Nucl. Phys. B 607 (2001) 213 [hep-th/0012051] [INSPIRE].
- [4] J. de Boer and M. Shigemori, Exotic branes and non-geometric backgrounds, Phys. Rev. Lett. 104 (2010) 251603 [arXiv:1004.2521] [INSPIRE].
- [5] E.A. Bergshoeff, T. Ortín and F. Riccioni, *Defect branes*, *Nucl. Phys.* B 856 (2012) 210 [arXiv:1109.4484] [INSPIRE].
- [6] J. de Boer and M. Shigemori, Exotic branes in string theory, Phys. Rept. 532 (2013) 65 [arXiv:1209.6056] [INSPIRE].
- [7] T. Kikuchi, T. Okada and Y. Sakatani, Rotating string in doubled geometry with generalized isometries, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 046001 [arXiv:1205.5549] [INSPIRE].
- [8] F. Hassler and D. Lüst, Non-commutative/non-associative IIA (IIB) Q- and R-branes and their intersections, JHEP 07 (2013) 048 [arXiv:1303.1413] [INSPIRE].
- [9] D. Geissbuhler, D. Marques, C. Núñez and V. Penas, Exploring double field theory, JHEP 06 (2013) 101 [arXiv:1304.1472] [INSPIRE].
- [10] T. Kimura and S. Sasaki, Gauged linear σ-model for exotic five-brane, Nucl. Phys. B 876 (2013) 493 [arXiv:1304.4061] [INSPIRE].
- T. Kimura and S. Sasaki, Worldsheet instanton corrections to 5²₂-brane geometry, JHEP 08 (2013) 126 [arXiv:1305.4439] [INSPIRE].
- [12] A. Chatzistavrakidis, F.F. Gautason, G. Moutsopoulos and M. Zagermann, Effective actions of nongeometric five-branes, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 066004 [arXiv:1309.2653] [INSPIRE].
- [13] T. Kimura and S. Sasaki, Worldsheet description of exotic five-brane with two gauged isometries, JHEP 03 (2014) 128 [arXiv:1310.6163] [INSPIRE].
- [14] D. Andriot and A. Betz, NS-branes, source corrected Bianchi identities and more on backgrounds with non-geometric fluxes, JHEP 07 (2014) 059 [arXiv:1402.5972] [INSPIRE].
- [15] T. Kimura, S. Sasaki and M. Yata, World-volume effective actions of exotic five-branes, JHEP 07 (2014) 127 [arXiv:1404.5442] [INSPIRE].

- [16] T. Okada and Y. Sakatani, Defect branes as Alice strings, arXiv:1411.1043 [INSPIRE].
- [17] D. Andriot, M. Larfors, D. Lüst and P. Patalong, A ten-dimensional action for non-geometric fluxes, JHEP 09 (2011) 134 [arXiv:1106.4015] [INSPIRE].
- [18] D. Andriot, O. Hohm, M. Larfors, D. Lüst and P. Patalong, A geometric action for non-geometric fluxes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 108 (2012) 261602 [arXiv:1202.3060] [INSPIRE].
- [19] D. Andriot, O. Hohm, M. Larfors, D. Lüst and P. Patalong, Non-geometric fluxes in supergravity and double field theory, Fortsch. Phys. 60 (2012) 1150 [arXiv:1204.1979] [INSPIRE].
- [20] D. Andriot and A. Betz, β-supergravity: a ten-dimensional theory with non-geometric fluxes and its geometric framework, JHEP 12 (2013) 083 [arXiv:1306.4381] [INSPIRE].
- [21] D. Andriot and A. Betz, Supersymmetry with non-geometric fluxes, or a β -twist in generalized geometry and Dirac operator, arXiv:1411.6640 [INSPIRE].
- [22] G. Aldazabal, P.G. Camara, A. Font and L.E. Ibáñez, More dual fluxes and moduli fixing, JHEP 05 (2006) 070 [hep-th/0602089] [INSPIRE].
- [23] G. Aldazabal, P.G. Camara and J.A. Rosabal, Flux algebra, Bianchi identities and Freed-Witten anomalies in F-theory compactifications, Nucl. Phys. B 814 (2009) 21
 [arXiv:0811.2900] [INSPIRE].
- [24] G. Aldazabal, E. Andres, P.G. Camara and M. Graña, U-dual fluxes and generalized geometry, JHEP 11 (2010) 083 [arXiv:1007.5509] [INSPIRE].
- [25] E.A. Bergshoeff and F. Riccioni, D-brane Wess-Zumino terms and U-duality, JHEP 11 (2010) 139 [arXiv:1009.4657] [INSPIRE].
- [26] E.A. Bergshoeff and F. Riccioni, String solitons and T-duality, JHEP 05 (2011) 131 [arXiv:1102.0934] [INSPIRE].
- [27] E.A. Bergshoeff, J. Hartong, T. Ortín and D. Roest, Seven-branes and supersymmetry, JHEP 02 (2007) 003 [hep-th/0612072] [INSPIRE].
- [28] T. Kimura, Defect (p,q) five-branes, Nucl. Phys. B 893 (2015) 1 [arXiv:1410.8403] [INSPIRE].
- [29] C.M. Hull, Timelike T duality, de Sitter space, large-N gauge theories and topological field theory, JHEP 07 (1998) 021 [hep-th/9806146] [INSPIRE].
- [30] C.M. Hull, A geometry for non-geometric string backgrounds, JHEP 10 (2005) 065 [hep-th/0406102] [INSPIRE].
- [31] C. Hull and B. Zwiebach, Double field theory, JHEP 09 (2009) 099 [arXiv:0904.4664]
 [INSPIRE].
- [32] C. Hull and B. Zwiebach, The gauge algebra of double field theory and Courant brackets, JHEP 09 (2009) 090 [arXiv:0908.1792] [INSPIRE].
- [33] O. Hohm, C. Hull and B. Zwiebach, Background independent action for double field theory, JHEP 07 (2010) 016 [arXiv:1003.5027] [INSPIRE].
- [34] O. Hohm, C. Hull and B. Zwiebach, Generalized metric formulation of double field theory, JHEP 08 (2010) 008 [arXiv:1006.4823] [INSPIRE].
- [35] O. Hohm, S.K. Kwak and B. Zwiebach, Double field theory of type II strings, JHEP 09 (2011) 013 [arXiv:1107.0008] [INSPIRE].

- [36] O. Hohm and S.K. Kwak, Frame-like geometry of double field theory, J. Phys. A 44 (2011) 085404 [arXiv:1011.4101] [INSPIRE].
- [37] I. Jeon, K. Lee and J.-H. Park, Differential geometry with a projection: application to double field theory, JHEP 04 (2011) 014 [arXiv:1011.1324] [INSPIRE].
- [38] I. Jeon, K. Lee and J.-H. Park, Stringy differential geometry, beyond Riemann, Phys. Rev. D 84 (2011) 044022 [arXiv:1105.6294] [INSPIRE].
- [39] I. Jeon, K. Lee and J.-H. Park, Incorporation of fermions into double field theory, JHEP 11 (2011) 025 [arXiv:1109.2035] [INSPIRE].
- [40] O. Hohm and S.K. Kwak, N = 1 supersymmetric double field theory, JHEP 03 (2012) 080
 [arXiv:1111.7293] [INSPIRE].
- [41] I. Jeon, K. Lee and J.-H. Park, Supersymmetric double field theory: stringy reformulation of supergravity, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 081501 [Erratum ibid. D 86 (2012) 089903]
 [arXiv:1112.0069] [INSPIRE].
- [42] I. Jeon, K. Lee and J.-H. Park, Ramond-Ramond cohomology and $O_{D,D}$ T-duality, JHEP 09 (2012) 079 [arXiv:1206.3478] [INSPIRE].
- [43] O. Hohm and B. Zwiebach, Large gauge transformations in double field theory, JHEP 02 (2013) 075 [arXiv:1207.4198] [INSPIRE].
- [44] I. Jeon, K. Lee, J.-H. Park and Y. Suh, Stringy unification of type IIA and IIB supergravities under N = 2 D = 10 supersymmetric double field theory, Phys. Lett. B 723 (2013) 245
 [arXiv:1210.5078] [INSPIRE].
- [45] D.S. Berman, C.D.A. Blair, E. Malek and M.J. Perry, The O_{D,D} geometry of string theory, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 29 (2014) 1450080 [arXiv:1303.6727] [INSPIRE].
- [46] B.R. Greene, A.D. Shapere, C. Vafa and S.-T. Yau, Stringy cosmic strings and noncompact Calabi-Yau manifolds, Nucl. Phys. B 337 (1990) 1 [INSPIRE].
- [47] P. Meessen and T. Ortín, An SL(2, Z) multiplet of nine-dimensional type-II supergravity theories, Nucl. Phys. B 541 (1999) 195 [hep-th/9806120] [INSPIRE].
- [48] G.W. Gibbons, M.B. Green and M.J. Perry, Instantons and seven-branes in type IIB superstring theory, Phys. Lett. B 370 (1996) 37 [hep-th/9511080] [INSPIRE].
- [49] E. Bergshoeff, A. Collinucci, U. Gran, D. Roest and S. Vandoren, Non-extremal D-instantons, JHEP 10 (2004) 031 [hep-th/0406038] [INSPIRE].
- [50] E.A. Bergshoeff, J. Hartong, A. Ploegh and D. Sorokin, *Q-instantons*, JHEP 06 (2008) 028 [arXiv:0801.4956] [INSPIRE].
- [51] D.S. Berman and F.J. Rudolph, Branes are waves and monopoles, arXiv:1409.6314 [INSPIRE].
- [52] D.S. Berman and M.J. Perry, Generalized geometry and M-theory, JHEP 06 (2011) 074 [arXiv:1008.1763] [INSPIRE].
- [53] D.S. Berman, E.T. Musaev and M.J. Perry, Boundary terms in generalized geometry and doubled field theory, Phys. Lett. B 706 (2011) 228 [arXiv:1110.3097] [INSPIRE].
- [54] D.S. Berman, H. Godazgar, M. Godazgar and M.J. Perry, The local symmetries of M-theory and their formulation in generalised geometry, JHEP 01 (2012) 012 [arXiv:1110.3930]
 [INSPIRE].

- [55] D.S. Berman, H. Godazgar, M.J. Perry and P. West, Duality invariant actions and generalised geometry, JHEP 02 (2012) 108 [arXiv:1111.0459] [INSPIRE].
- [56] D.S. Berman, E.T. Musaev, D.C. Thompson and D.C. Thompson, Duality invariant M-theory: gauged supergravities and Scherk-Schwarz reductions, JHEP 10 (2012) 174 [arXiv:1208.0020] [INSPIRE].
- [57] D.S. Berman, M. Cederwall, A. Kleinschmidt and D.C. Thompson, The gauge structure of generalised diffeomorphisms, JHEP 01 (2013) 064 [arXiv:1208.5884] [INSPIRE].
- [58] J.-H. Park and Y. Suh, U-geometry: SL(5), JHEP 04 (2013) 147 [Erratum ibid. 11 (2013) 210] [arXiv:1302.1652] [INSPIRE].
- [59] O. Hohm and H. Samtleben, U-duality covariant gravity, JHEP 09 (2013) 080
 [arXiv:1307.0509] [INSPIRE].
- [60] J.-H. Park and Y. Suh, U-gravity: SL(N), JHEP 06 (2014) 102 [arXiv:1402.5027] [INSPIRE].
- [61] O. Hohm and H. Samtleben, Exceptional form of D = 11 supergravity, Phys. Rev. Lett. **111** (2013) 231601 [arXiv:1308.1673] [INSPIRE].
- [62] O. Hohm and H. Samtleben, Exceptional field theory I: E₆₍₆₎ covariant form of M-theory and type IIB, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 066016 [arXiv:1312.0614] [INSPIRE].
- [63] O. Hohm and H. Samtleben, Exceptional field theory II: E₇₍₇₎, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 066017 [arXiv:1312.4542] [INSPIRE].
- [64] H. Godazgar, M. Godazgar, O. Hohm, H. Nicolai and H. Samtleben, Supersymmetric E₇₍₇₎ exceptional field theory, JHEP 09 (2014) 044 [arXiv:1406.3235] [INSPIRE].
- [65] O. Hohm and H. Samtleben, Exceptional field theory III: E₈₍₈₎, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 066002 [arXiv:1406.3348] [INSPIRE].
- [66] C.D.A. Blair and E. Malek, Geometry and fluxes of SL(5) exceptional field theory, arXiv:1412.0635 [INSPIRE].
- [67] D.S. Berman and F.J. Rudolph, Strings, branes and the self-dual solutions of exceptional field theory, arXiv:1412.2768 [INSPIRE].
- [68] E. Musaev and H. Samtleben, Fermions and supersymmetry in E₆₍₆₎ exceptional field theory, JHEP 03 (2015) 027 [arXiv:1412.7286] [INSPIRE].